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Part I — Financial Information

Item 1.     Financial Statements 

World Fuel Services Corporation

Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets

(Unaudited - In millions, except per share data) 

 June 30, 2021 December 31, 2020
Assets:   
Current assets:   

Cash and cash equivalents $ 742.7 $ 658.8 
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for credit losses of $36.1 million and $53.8 million as of
June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively 1,835.0 1,238.4 
Inventories 426.5 344.3 
Prepaid expenses 74.4 51.1 
Short-term derivative assets, net 81.1 66.4 
Other current assets 199.0 280.4 
Total current assets 3,358.6 2,639.3 

Property and equipment, net 334.2 342.6 
Goodwill 858.9 858.6 
Identifiable intangible and other non-current assets 698.1 659.8 

Total assets $ 5,249.8 $ 4,500.3 
Liabilities:   
Current liabilities:   

Current maturities of long-term debt $ 30.1 $ 22.9 
Accounts payable 1,844.8 1,214.7 
Customer deposits 153.4 155.8 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 364.2 290.6 
Total current liabilities 2,392.6 1,684.0 

Long-term debt 491.6 501.8 
Non-current income tax liabilities, net 216.8 215.5 
Other long-term liabilities 199.1 186.1 

Total liabilities 3,300.1 2,587.4 
Commitments and contingencies
Equity:   
World Fuel shareholders' equity:   

Preferred stock, $1.00 par value; 0.1 shares authorized, none issued — — 
Common stock, $0.01 par value; 100.0 shares authorized, 63.3 and 62.9 issued and outstanding
as of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively 0.6 0.6 
Capital in excess of par value 211.3 204.6 
Retained earnings 1,858.4 1,836.7 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (124.1) (132.6)
Total World Fuel shareholders' equity 1,946.2 1,909.3 

Noncontrolling interest 3.5 3.6 
Total equity 1,949.7 1,912.9 
Total liabilities and equity $ 5,249.8 $ 4,500.3 

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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World Fuel Services Corporation

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income

(Unaudited – In millions, except per share data)

 For the Three Months Ended For the Six Months Ended
 June 30, June 30,
 2021 2020 2021 2020
Revenue $ 7,085.5 $ 3,158.3 $ 13,043.4 $ 11,173.5 
Cost of revenue 6,901.6 2,944.5 12,667.9 10,700.9 

Gross profit 183.9 213.9 375.5 472.6 
Operating expenses:     

Compensation and employee benefits 87.9 95.9 180.3 198.3 
General and administrative 57.4 84.4 116.8 168.2 
Asset impairments 4.7 18.6 4.7 18.6 
Restructuring charges 3.0 3.1 5.1 4.8 

Total operating expenses 153.0 202.0 306.9 389.9 
Income from operations 30.9 11.9 68.6 82.7 

Non-operating income (expenses), net:     
Interest expense and other financing costs, net (10.0) (10.0) (18.7) (25.3)
Other income (expense), net (1.4) (4.9) (2.6) (2.7)

Total non-operating income (expense), net (11.4) (14.9) (21.3) (28.1)
Income (loss) before income taxes 19.6 (3.0) 47.2 54.6 

Provision for income taxes 2.0 7.7 10.8 23.7 
Net income (loss) including noncontrolling interest 17.6 (10.7) 36.4 31.0 
Net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interest (0.1) (0.4) (0.1) (0.2)
Net income (loss) attributable to World Fuel $ 17.6 $ (10.2) $ 36.5 $ 31.2 

Basic earnings (loss) per common share $ 0.28 $ (0.16) $ 0.58 $ 0.49 

Basic weighted average common shares 63.4 63.3 63.2 64.1 

Diluted earnings (loss) per common share $ 0.28 $ (0.16) $ 0.57 $ 0.48 

Diluted weighted average common shares 63.8 63.3 63.6 64.4 

Comprehensive income:   
Net income (loss) including noncontrolling interest $ 17.6 $ (10.7) $ 36.4 $ 31.0 
Other comprehensive income (loss):    

Foreign currency translation adjustments 4.8 5.1 0.8 (27.9)
Cash flow hedges, net of income tax benefit of $2.9 and $7.2 for the
three months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively, and net
of income tax expense of $2.7 and $0.2 for the six months ended
June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively (8.6) (21.0) 7.8 0.7 

Other comprehensive income (loss) (3.8) (16.0) 8.5 (27.2)
Comprehensive income (loss) including noncontrolling interest 13.7 (26.7) 44.9 3.7 
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interest (0.1) — (0.1) — 
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to World Fuel $ 13.8 $ (26.7) 45.0 $ 3.7 

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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World Fuel Services Corporation

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity

(Unaudited - In millions)

 Common Stock Capital in
Excess of
Par Value

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss

Total
World Fuel

Shareholders'
Equity

Noncontrolling
Interest 
Equity  Total Equity Shares Amount

Balance as of December 31, 2020 62.9 $ 0.6 $ 204.6 $ 1,836.7 $ (132.6) $ 1,909.3 $ 3.6 $ 1,912.9 
Net income (loss) — — — 18.9 — 18.9 — 18.8 
Cash dividends declared — — — (7.5) — (7.5) — (7.5)
Amortization of share-based payment
awards — — 8.7 — — 8.7 — 8.7 
Issuance (cancellation) of common stock
related to share-based payment awards 0.1 — — — — — — — 
Purchases of common stock tendered by
employees to satisfy the required
withholding taxes related to share-based
payment awards — — (2.4) — — (2.4) — (2.4)
Other comprehensive income (loss) — — — — 12.4 12.4 — 12.4 
Other — — — 0.2 — 0.2 — 0.2 

Balance as of March 31, 2021 63.0 0.6 210.8 1,848.3 (120.3) 1,939.5 3.5 1,943.0 
Net income (loss) — — — 17.6 — 17.6 (0.1) 17.6 
Cash dividends declared — — — (7.6) — (7.6) — (7.6)
Amortization of share-based payment
awards — — 3.3 — — 3.3 — 3.3 
Issuance (cancellation) of common stock
related to share-based payment awards 0.3 — 0.2 — — 0.3 — 0.3 
Purchases of common stock tendered by
employees to satisfy the required
withholding taxes related to share-based
payment awards — — (3.1) — — (3.1) — (3.1)
Other comprehensive income (loss) — — — — (3.8) (3.8) — (3.8)

Balance as of June 30, 2021 63.3 $ 0.6 $ 211.3 $ 1,858.4 $ (124.1) $ 1,946.2 $ 3.5 $ 1,949.7 

    

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Common Stock Capital in
Excess of
Par Value

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss

Total
World Fuel

Shareholders'
Equity

Noncontrolling
Interest 
Equity  Total EquityShares Amount

Balance as of December 31, 2019 65.2 $ 0.7 $ 274.7 $ 1,761.3 $ (146.3) $ 1,890.4 $ 3.5 $ 1,893.9 
Cumulative effect of change in accounting
principle — — — (11.1) — (11.1) — (11.1)
Net income (loss) — — — 41.4 — 41.4 0.2 41.6 
Cash dividends declared — — — (6.5) — (6.5) — (6.5)
Amortization of share-based payment
awards — — (1.8) — — (1.8) — (1.8)
Issuance (cancellation) of common stock
related to share-based payment awards 0.2 — 1.2 — — 1.2 — 1.2 
Purchases of common stock tendered by
employees to satisfy the required
withholding taxes related to share-based
payment awards — — (1.5) — — (1.5) — (1.5)
Purchases of common stock (2.2) — (55.6) — — (55.6) — (55.6)
Other comprehensive income (loss) — — — — (11.3) (11.3) — (11.3)
Other — (0.1) 1.2 — — 1.2 — 1.2 

Balance as of March 31, 2020 63.2 0.6 218.2 1,785.1 (157.5) 1,846.4 3.7 1,850.1 
Net income — — — (10.2) — (10.2) (0.4) (10.7)
Cash dividends declared — — — (6.3) — (6.3) — (6.3)
Amortization of share-based payment
awards — — 2.3 — — 2.3 — 2.3 
Issuance (cancellation) of common stock
related to share-based payment awards 0.1 — — — — — — — 
Purchases of common stock tendered by
employees to satisfy the required
withholding taxes related to share-based
payment awards — — (1.2) — — (1.2) — (1.2)
Other comprehensive income (loss) — — — — (16.0) (16.0) — (16.0)

Balance as of June 30, 2020 63.3 $ 0.6 $ 219.3 $ 1,768.6 $ (173.5) $ 1,815.0 $ 3.3 $ 1,818.3 

Cash Dividends

During the six months ended June 30, 2021, the Company's Board of Directors declared quarterly cash dividends of $0.12 per common share representing
$7.5 million and $7.6 million in total dividends, which were paid on April 9, 2021 and July 1, 2021, respectively. During the six months ended June 30, 2020,
the Company's Board of Directors declared quarterly cash dividends of $0.10 per common share representing $6.5 million and $6.3 million in total dividends,
which were paid on April 9, 2020 and July 2, 2020, respectively.

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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World Fuel Services Corporation

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(Unaudited - In millions)

 For the Six Months Ended
 June 30,
 2021 2020
Cash flows from operating activities:   

Net income (loss) including noncontrolling interest $ 36.4 $ 31
Adjustments to reconcile net income including noncontrolling interest to net cash provided by

operating activities:  
Depreciation and amortization 40.5 44
Provision for credit losses 2.4 34
Share-based payment award compensation costs 12.0 0
Deferred income tax expense (benefit) (15.4) (5
Foreign currency (gains) losses, net (8.9) 3
Other 10.5 0
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions and divestitures:  

Accounts receivable, net (600.7) 1,462
Inventories (77.4) 282
Prepaid expenses (24.3) 6
Short-term derivative assets, net 39.6 (110
Other current assets 61.9 17
Cash collateral with counterparties 24.7 17
Other non-current assets (28.9) (18
Accounts payable 605.9 (1,527
Customer deposits (2.7) (2
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 41.1 (25
Non-current income tax, net and other long-term liabilities 23.8 33

Total adjustments 104.2 214
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 140.6 245

Cash flows from investing activities:  
Acquisition of business, net of cash acquired — (130
Capital expenditures (14.2) (32
Other investing activities, net (5.4) (5
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (19.7) (168

Cash flows from financing activities:  
Borrowings of debt 0.3 2,080
Repayments of debt (8.9) (1,613
Dividends paid on common stock (13.6) (13
Repurchases of common stock — (55
Other financing activities, net (13.5) (2
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (35.7) 394

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (1.4) (11
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 83.9 459
Cash and cash equivalents, as of the beginning of the period 658.8 186
Cash and cash equivalents, as of the end of the period $ 742.7 $ 645

Supplemental Schedule of Noncash Investing and Financing Activities:

Cash dividends declared, but not yet paid, were $7.6 million and $6.3 million for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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World Fuel Services Corporation

Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

(Unaudited) 

1. Basis of Presentation, New Accounting Standards, and Significant Accounting Policies

General

World Fuel Services Corporation (the “Company”) was incorporated in Florida in July 1984 and along with its consolidated subsidiaries is referred to
collectively in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (“10-Q Report”) as “World Fuel,” “we,” “our” and “us.”

We are a leading global fuel services company, principally engaged in the distribution of fuel and related products and services in the aviation, land and
marine transportation industries. In recent years, we have expanded our land product and service offerings to include energy advisory services and supply
fulfillment for natural gas and power to commercial, industrial and government customers. Our intention is to become a leading global energy management
company offering a full suite of energy advisory, management and fulfillment services, technology solutions, payment management solutions, as well as
sustainability products and services across the energy product spectrum. We will continue to focus on enhancing the portfolio of products and services we
provide based on changes in customer demand, including sustainability offerings and renewable energy solutions.

The Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements and related Notes include our parent company and all subsidiaries where we exercise control, and
include the operations of acquired businesses after the completion of their acquisition. The decision of whether or not to consolidate an entity requires
consideration of majority voting interests, as well as effective economic or other control over the entity. The Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements are
prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”), the instructions to Form 10-Q and
Article 10 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they do not include all the information and footnotes required by generally accepted accounting principles for
complete financial statements. However, except as disclosed herein, there has been no material change in the information disclosed in the Notes included in
our 2020 Annual Report on Form 10-K (“2020 10-K Report”). All intercompany transactions among our businesses have been eliminated.

Revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities can vary during each quarter of the year. Therefore, the results and trends in these interim financial statements
may not be representative of those for the full year. In our opinion, all adjustments necessary for a fair statement of the financial statements, which are of a
normal and recurring nature, have been made for the interim periods reported. The information included in this 10-Q Report should be read in conjunction
with the Consolidated Financial Statements and accompanying Notes included in our 2020 10-K Report. Certain amounts in the Condensed Consolidated
Financial Statements and accompanying Notes may not add due to rounding; however, all percentages have been calculated using unrounded amounts.

COVID-19

Throughout 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic had a significant impact on the global economy as a whole, and the transportation industries in particular,
which has continued into 2021. Many of our customers in these industries, especially commercial airlines, have experienced a substantial decline in business
activity arising from the various measures enacted by governments around the world to contain the spread of the virus. While travel and economic activity has
begun to improve in certain regions, activity in many parts of the world continues to be negatively impacted by travel restrictions and lockdowns.

In response to the challenges arising from the pandemic, we commenced a number of initiatives in 2020 relating to cost reduction, liquidity and operating
efficiencies, which remain an area of focus for us in 2021. The ultimate global recovery from the pandemic will be dependent on, among other things, actions
taken by governments and businesses to contain and combat the virus, including any variant strains, the speed and effectiveness of vaccine production and
global distribution, as well as how quickly, and to what extent, normal economic and operating conditions can resume on a sustainable basis globally.

New Accounting Standards

Adoption of New Accounting Standards

During 2021, there have been no accounting standards that, upon adoption, had a material impact on the Company’s unaudited Condensed Consolidated
Financial Statements or processes.
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Accounting Standards Issued but Not Yet Adopted

Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting and Scope. In March 2020 and January
2021, ASU 2020-04 and ASU 2021-01 were issued, respectively. The amendments provide temporary optional expedients and exceptions to the guidance on
contract modifications and hedge accounting to ease the financial reporting burden in accounting for (or recognizing the effects of) contracts, hedging
relationships and other transactions that reference the London Interbank Offered Rate ("LIBOR") or other interbank offered rates expected to be discontinued
because of reference rate reform. The amendments were effective upon issuance and may be applied prospectively to contract modifications made and hedging
relationships entered into or evaluated on or before December 31, 2022. The Company is evaluating contracts that could be affected by an alternative
reference rate and assessing the potential effects of the guidance but does not anticipate a material impact to its Consolidated Financial Statements or
processes. Additionally, LIBOR fallback language has been included, when applicable, in new and renewed contracts entered into by the Company in
preparation for the transition from LIBOR to alternative reference rates when such transition occurs.

Other recently issued accounting standards not yet adopted by us are not expected, upon adoption, to have a material impact on our Consolidated
Financial Statements or processes.

Significant Accounting Policies

There have been no significant changes in the Company's accounting policies from those disclosed in our 2020 10-K Report. The significant accounting
policies we use for quarterly financial reporting are disclosed in Note 1. Basis of Presentation, New Accounting Standards, and Significant Accounting
Policies of the accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in our 2020 10-K Report.

2. Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable and allowance for credit losses

When we extend credit on an unsecured basis, our exposure to credit losses depends on the financial condition of our customers and other macroeconomic
factors beyond our control, such as global economic conditions or adverse impacts in the industries we serve, changes in oil prices and political instability.

We actively monitor and manage our credit exposure and work to respond to both changes in our customers’ financial conditions or macroeconomic
events. Based on the ongoing credit evaluations of our customers, we adjust credit limits based upon payment history and our customers' current
creditworthiness. However, because we extend credit on an unsecured basis to most of our customers, there is a possibility that any accounts receivable not
collected may ultimately need to be written off.

We had accounts receivable of $1.8 billion and $1.2 billion and an allowance for expected credit losses, primarily related to accounts receivable, of $39.8
million and $57.3 million, as of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively. Changes to the expected credit loss provision during the six months
ended June 30, 2021 include global economic outlook considerations as a result of the Company’s assessment of reasonable and supportable forward-looking
information, including the expected overall impact of the ongoing pandemic and global recovery, primarily in the aviation segment. Write-offs of uncollectible
receivables during the six months ended June 30, 2021 resulted from negative impacts of the pandemic combined with pre-existing financial difficulties
experienced by certain customers. Based on an aging analysis as of June 30, 2021, 96% of our net accounts receivable were outstanding less than 60 days.

The following table sets forth activities in our allowance for expected credit losses (in millions):

2021 2020
Balance as of January 1, $ 57.3 $ 46.6 
Charges to allowance for credit losses 2.4 34.6 
Write-off of uncollectible receivables (21.2) (32.9)
Recoveries of credit losses 1.1 0.4 
Translation adjustments 0.1 (0.1)
Balance as of June 30, $ 39.8 $ 48.6 
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Receivable sales programs

We have receivables purchase agreements (“RPAs”) with Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. and Citibank, N.A. that allow for the sale of our accounts receivable in an
amount up to 100% of our outstanding qualifying balances in exchange for cash consideration equal to the total balance, less a discount margin equal to
LIBOR plus 1.00% to 3.25%, depending on the outstanding accounts receivable at any given time and assuming maximum utilization of the RPA facilities.
Accounts receivable sold under the RPAs are accounted for as sales and excluded from Accounts receivable, net of allowance for credit losses on the
accompanying Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. Fees paid under the RPAs are recorded within Interest expense and other financing costs, net on the
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income.

During the six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, we sold receivables under the RPAs with an aggregate face value of $4.3 billion and $2.2 billion,
respectively, and paid fees of $9.4 million and $5.5 million, respectively.

3. Acquisitions

During the first quarter of 2020, we completed the acquisition of the aviation fuel business from Universal Weather and Aviation, Inc. (“UVair fuel
business”), which serves business and general aviation customers worldwide. The total purchase price of $159.0 million included a $30 million deferred
payment that remained partially outstanding as of June 30, 2021. The acquisition was accounted for as a business combination and is reported in the aviation
segment.

4. Derivative Instruments

The following describes our derivative classifications:

Fair Value Hedges. Derivative contracts we hold to hedge the risk of changes in the price of our inventory.

Cash Flow Hedges. Derivative contracts we execute to mitigate the risk of price and interest rate volatility in forecasted transactions.

Non-designated Derivatives. Derivatives we primarily transact to mitigate the risk of market price fluctuations in swaps or futures contracts, as well as
certain forward fixed price purchase and sale contracts to hedge the risk of currency rate fluctuations and for portfolio optimization.

The following table presents the gross fair value of our derivative instruments and their locations on the Consolidated Balance Sheets (in millions):

Gross Derivative Assets Gross Derivative Liabilities
June 30, December 31, June 30, December 31

Derivative Instruments Consolidated Balance Sheets location 2021 2020 2021 2020
Derivatives designated as hedging instruments
Commodity contracts Short-term derivative assets, net $ 138.4 $ 124.9 $ 181.1 $ 120

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 2.9 1.0 5.0 2
Other long-term liabilities — 0.1 — 0

Interest rate contracts Identifiable intangible and other non-current
assets

2.3 — — 

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities — — 1.3 1
Other long-term liabilities — — — 2

Total derivatives designated as hedging instruments 143.6 126.0 187.5 127

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments
Commodity contracts Short-term derivative assets, net 298.2 164.9 171.8 102

Identifiable intangible and other non-current
assets

64.6 32.1 25.5 7

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 48.8 30.5 158.2 68
Other long-term liabilities 6.1 17.5 28.3 23

Foreign currency
contracts

Short-term derivative assets, net 1.2 — 0.3 

Identifiable intangible and other non-current
assets

0.1 — — 

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 2.8 7.5 4.3 19
Other long-term liabilities — — — 0

Total derivatives not designated as hedging instruments 421.8 252.5 388.5 222

Total derivatives $ 565.4 $ 378.5 $ 576.0 $ 349
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For information regarding our derivative instruments measured at fair value after netting and collateral, see Note 6. Fair Value Measurements.

The following table summarizes the gross notional values of our commodity and foreign currency exchange derivative contracts used for risk
management purposes (in millions):

Unit June 30, 2021
Commodity contracts
Long BBL 53.0 
Short BBL (45.0)

Foreign currency exchange contracts
Sell U.S. dollar, buy other currencies USD (244.6)
Buy U.S. dollar, sell other currencies USD 346.3 

The following amounts were recorded on our Consolidated Balance Sheets related to cumulative basis adjustments for fair value hedges (in millions):

Line item in the Consolidated Balance Sheets in which the
hedged item is included Carrying Amount of Hedged Assets/(Liabilities)

Cumulative Amount of Fair Value Hedging Adjustment
Included in the Carrying Amount of the Hedged

Asset/(Liabilities)
June 30, 2021 December 31, 2020 June 30, 2021 December 31, 2020

Inventory $ 51.4 $ 44.5 $ 9.3 $ 4.9 

The following table presents the location and amount of gains (losses) on fair value and cash flow hedges recognized in income in our Condensed
Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income (in millions):

For the Three Months Ended
June 30, 2021 June 30, 2020

Revenue Cost of revenue

Interest expense and
other financing

costs, net Revenue Cost of revenue

Interest expense and
other financing

costs, net
Total amounts of income and expense line items in which the
effects of fair value or cash flow hedged are recorded $ 7,085.5 $ 6,901.6 $ 11.4 $ 3,158.3 $ 2,944.5 $ 10.7 

Gains (losses) on fair value hedge relationships:
   Commodity contracts:

Hedged item — 14.6 — — 8.9 — 
Derivatives designated as hedging instruments — (11.3) — — (4.6) — 

Gains (losses) on cash flow hedge relationships:
   Commodity contracts:

Amount of gain (loss) reclassified from accumulated other
comprehensive income into income (2.9) 67.4 — 27.0 (56.2) — 

   Interest rate contracts:
Amount of gain (loss) reclassified from accumulated other
comprehensive income into income — — (0.3) — — — 

Total amount of income and expense line items excluding the
impact of hedges $ 7,088.4 $ 6,972.2 $ 11.1 $ 3,131.4 $ 2,892.6 $ 10.7 
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For the Six Months Ended
June 30, 2021 June 30, 2020

Revenue Cost of revenue

Interest expense and
other financing

costs, net Revenue Cost of revenue

Interest expense and
other financing

costs, net
Total amounts of income and expense line items in which the
effects of fair value or cash flow hedged are recorded $ 13,043.4 $ 12,667.9 $ 22.5 $ 11,173.5 $ 10,700.9 $ 26.9 

Gains (losses) on fair value hedge relationships:
   Commodity contracts:

Hedged item — 26.5 — — (14.3) — 
Derivatives designated as hedging instruments — (19.7) — — 13.8 — 

Gains (losses) on cash flow hedge relationships:
   Commodity contracts:

Amount of gain (loss) reclassified from accumulated other
comprehensive income into income (14.6) 88.4 — 41.0 (57.3) — 

   Interest rate contracts:
Amount of gain (loss) reclassified from accumulated other
comprehensive income into income — — (0.5) — — — 

Total amount of income and expense line items excluding the
impact of hedges $ 13,058.0 $ 12,763.2 $ 22.0 $ 11,132.5 $ 10,643.1 $ 26.9 

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, there were no gains or losses recognized in earnings related to our fair value or cash flow
hedges that were excluded from the assessment of hedge effectiveness.

As of June 30, 2021, on a pre-tax basis for commodity cash flow hedges, $184.3 million and $177.2 million are scheduled to be reclassified from
Accumulated other comprehensive loss as an increase to Revenue and increase to Cost of revenue, respectively, over the next twelve months. As of June 30,
2021, all designated cash flow hedges executed to mitigate exposure to commodity price risk are scheduled to mature within twelve months.

The following tables presents the effect and financial statement location of our derivative instruments in cash flow hedging relationships on Accumulated
other comprehensive income and Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income (in millions):

Amount of gain (loss) recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

2021 2020 2021 2020
Commodity contracts (Revenue) $ (13.3) $ (148.5) $ (76.1) $ 185.6 
Commodity contracts (Cost of revenue) 69.6 100.3 154.3 (197.4)
Interest rate contracts (0.7) (2.2) 3.0 (3.7)
Total gain (loss) $ 55.7 $ (50.3) $ 81.2 $ (15.5)

Amount of gain (loss) reclassified from accumulated
other comprehensive income into Income

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
Location 2021 2020 2021 2020

Commodity contracts Revenue $ (2.9) $ 27.0 $ (14.6) $ 41.0 
Commodity contracts Cost of revenue 67.4 (56.2) 88.4 (57.3)

Interest rate contracts Interest expense and other
financing costs, net (0.3) — (0.5) — 

Total gain (loss) $ 64.2 $ (29.2) $ 73.4 $ (16.3)
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The following table presents the amounts not recorded in Accumulated other comprehensive income due to intra-period settlement but recognized in
Revenue and Cost of revenue in our Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income (in millions):

Gain (loss) not recorded in accumulated other
comprehensive income due to intra-period settlement

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
Location 2021 2020 2021 2020

Commodity contracts Revenue $ (113.8) $ 140.9 $ (190.6) $ 303.3 
Commodity contracts Cost of revenue $ 8.0 $ (83.4) $ 15.2 $ (173.5)

The following table presents the amount and financial statement location in our Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive
Income of realized and unrealized gains (losses) recognized on derivative instruments not designated as hedging instruments (in millions):

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
Derivative Instruments - Non-designated Location 2021 2020 2021 2020
Commodity contracts

Revenue $ 12.9 $ 34.1 $ (290.9) $ 113
Cost of revenue (6.2) (25.8) 306.8 (10

6.7 8.4 15.9 102
Foreign currency contracts

Revenue (0.2) (0.5) 0.1 
Other (expense), net (1.5) (7.8) 1.8 10

(1.7) (8.3) 2.0 10
Total gain (loss) $ 5.0 $ 0.2 $ 17.9 $ 113

Credit-Risk-Related Contingent Features

We enter into derivative contracts which may require us to post collateral periodically. Certain of these derivative contracts contain credit-risk-related
contingent clauses which are triggered by credit events. These credit events may include the requirement to post additional collateral or the immediate
settlement of the derivative instruments upon the occurrence of a credit downgrade or if certain defined financial ratios fall below an established threshold.
The following table presents the potential collateral requirements for derivative liabilities with credit-risk-contingent features (in millions):

June 30, 2021 December 31, 2020
Net derivative liability positions with credit contingent features $ 4.0 $ 20.0 
Collateral posted and held by our counterparties — — 
Maximum additional potential collateral requirements $ 4.0 $ 20.0 

As of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, there was no collateral held by our counterparties on these derivative contracts with credit-risk-contingent
features.

5. Debt, Interest Income, Expense, and Other Finance Costs

Our outstanding debt consists of the following (in millions):

June 30, 2021 December 31, 2020
Term loans $ 497.0 $ 503
Finance leases 21.3 18
Other 3.5 3
Total debt 521.7 524

Less: Current maturities of long-term debt and finance leases 30.1 22
Long-term debt $ 491.6 $ 501
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The following table provides additional information about our Interest income (expense), and other financing costs, net, for the periods presented for the
three and six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 (in millions):

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
2021 2020 2021 2020

Interest income $ 1.4 $ 0.7 $ 3.7 $ 1.6 
Interest expense and other financing costs (11.4) (10.7) (22.5) (26.9)
Interest expense and other financing costs, net $ (10.0) $ (10.0) $ (18.7) $ (25.3)

t

6. Fair Value Measurements

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, net accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses and other current liabilities
approximate fair value based on their short-term maturities. The carrying values of our debt and notes receivable approximate fair value as these instruments
bear interest either at variable rates or fixed rates, which are not significantly different from market rates. The fair value measurements for our debt and notes
receivable are considered to be Level 2 measurements based on the fair value hierarchy.

Recurring Fair Value Measurements

The following tables present information about our gross assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of June 30, 2021 and
December 31, 2020 (in millions):

Fair Value Measurements as of June 30, 2021
Level 1 Inputs Level 2 Inputs Level 3 Inputs Total

Assets:
Commodities contracts $ 378.0 $ 176.6 $ 4.4 $ 559.0 
Foreign currency contracts — 4.1 — 4.1 
Interest rate contract — 2.3 — 2.3 
Cash surrender value of life insurance — 13.2 — 13.2 
Total assets at fair value $ 378.0 $ 196.2 $ 4.4 $ 578.5 

Liabilities:     
Commodities contracts $ 340.5 $ 223.8 $ 5.7 $ 570.0 
Interest rate contract — 1.3 — 1.3 
Foreign currency contracts — 4.7 — 4.7 
Total liabilities at fair value $ 340.5 $ 229.8 $ 5.7 $ 576.0 

Fair Value Measurements as of December 31, 2020
Level 1 Inputs Level 2 Inputs Level 3 Inputs Total

Assets:
Commodities contracts $ 233.5 $ 127.9 $ 9.5 $ 371.0 
Foreign currency contracts — 7.5 — 7.5 
Cash surrender value of life insurance — 11.4 — 11.4 
Total assets at fair value $ 233.5 $ 146.8 $ 9.5 $ 389.9 

Liabilities:
Commodities contracts $ 223.0 $ 96.8 $ 6.3 $ 326.0 
Interest rate contract — 3.7 — 3.7 
Foreign currency contracts — 19.8 — 19.8 
Total liabilities at fair value $ 223.0 $ 120.2 $ 6.3 $ 349.5 
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For our derivative contracts, we may enter into master netting, collateral and offset agreements with counterparties. These agreements provide us the
ability to offset a counterparty’s rights and obligations, request additional collateral when necessary, or liquidate the collateral in the event of counterparty
default. We net the fair value of cash collateral paid or received against fair value amounts recognized for net derivative positions executed with the same
counterparty under the same master netting or offset agreement.

We have elected to offset the recognized fair value amounts for multiple derivative instruments executed with the same counterparty in our financial
statements when a legal right of offset exists. The following tables summarize those derivative balances subject to the right of offset as presented on our
Consolidated Balance Sheets (in millions):

Fair Value as of June 30, 2021
Gross

Amounts
Recognized

Gross
Amounts Offset

Net Amounts
Presented

Cash
Collateral

Gross Amounts
without Right of

Offset Net Amoun
Assets:
Commodities contracts $ 559.0 $ 439.0 $ 119.9 $ 5.4 $ — $ 114
Interest rate contract 2.3 — 2.3 — — 2
Foreign currency

contracts 4.1 3.2 0.9 — — 0
Total assets at fair value $ 565.4 $ 442.3 $ 123.1 $ 5.4 $ — $ 117

Liabilities:
Commodities contracts $ 570.0 $ 439.0 $ 131.0 $ 3.1 $ — $ 127
Interest rate contract 1.3 — 1.3 — — 1
Foreign currency

contracts 4.7 3.2 1.5 — — 1
Total liabilities at fair

value $ 576.0 $ 442.3 $ 133.8 $ 3.1 $ — $ 130

Fair Value as of December 31, 2020
Gross

Amounts
Recognized

Gross
Amounts Offset

Net Amounts
Presented

Cash
Collateral

Gross Amounts
without Right of

Offset Net Amoun
Assets:
Commodities contracts $ 371.0 $ 287.1 $ 83.9 $ 1.2 $ — $ 82
Foreign currency

contracts 7.5 7.5 — — — —
Total assets at fair value $ 378.5 $ 294.6 $ 83.9 $ 1.2 $ — $ 82

Liabilities:
Commodities contracts $ 326.0 $ 287.1 $ 38.9 $ 2.3 $ — $ 36
Interest rate contract 3.7 — 3.7 — — 3
Foreign currency

contracts 19.8 7.5 12.3 — — 12
Total liabilities at fair

value $ 349.5 $ 294.6 $ 54.9 $ 2.3 $ — $ 52

At June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, we did not present any amounts gross on our Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets where we had the right
of offset.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Our individual over-the-counter ("OTC") counterparty exposure is managed within predetermined credit limits and includes the use of cash-call margins
when appropriate, thereby reducing the risk of significant nonperformance. At June 30, 2021, two of our counterparties with a total exposure of $25.9 million
represented over 10% of our credit exposure to OTC derivative counterparties.
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Nonrecurring Fair Value Measurements

During the second quarter of 2021, we identified an impairment indicator with respect to certain long-lived assets within the land segment. We determined
that the carrying amount of the asset group was not recoverable and recognized an asset impairment of $4.7 million during the three months ended June 30,
2021. The fair value of the asset group was measured using an income approach based on estimated future cash flows as of the measurement date. Due to the
significance of unobservable inputs, the measurement is categorized as Level 3. The fair values of nonrecurring assets or liabilities measured using Level 3
inputs were not material as of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively.

7. Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The following table presents our revenues from contracts with customers disaggregated by major geographic areas in which we conduct business (in
millions):

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
2021 2020 2021 2020

Aviation $ 156.1 $ 103.9 $ 277.4 $ 357.9 
Land 4.0 0.8 9.6 5.6 
Marine 727.5 441.0 1,446.3 1,365.7 

Asia Pacific 887.6 545.8 1,733.3 1,729.1 

Aviation 363.2 157.8 630.0 796.6 
Land 555.8 313.9 1,165.6 932.1 
Marine 560.1 285.0 1,047.2 896.2 

EMEA 1,479.0 756.7 2,842.9 2,625.0 

Aviation 453.4 77.2 802.5 656.7 
Land 139.8 76.4 262.5 206.8 
Marine 131.0 83.1 256.6 316.4 

LATAM 724.2 236.7 1,321.6 1,179.9 

Aviation 1,943.7 500.6 3,375.0 2,607.1 
Land 1,750.8 804.9 3,211.3 2,134.2 
Marine 289.9 134.2 545.4 476.4 

North America 3,984.4 1,439.7 7,131.8 5,217.7 

Other revenues (excluded from ASC 606) 10.3 179.6 13.9 421.9 

Total revenue $ 7,085.5 $ 3,158.3 $ 13,043.4 $ 11,173.5 

    Includes revenue from derivatives, leases, and other transactions that we account for under separate guidance.

The nature of the receivables related to revenue from contracts with customers and other revenues (excluded from ASC 606) are substantially similar, as
they are both generated from transactions with the same type of counterparties (e.g., separate fuel sales and storage lease with the same counterparty) and are
entered into utilizing the same credit approval and monitoring procedures for all customers. As such, we believe the risk associated with the cash flows from
the different types of receivables is not meaningful to separately disaggregate the accounts receivable balance presented on our Consolidated Balance Sheets.
Furthermore, as of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the contract assets and contract liabilities recognized by the Company were not material.

(1)

(1) 

14



8. Income Taxes

Our income tax provision and the respective effective income tax rates are as follows (in millions, except for income tax rates):

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
2021 2020 2021 2020

Income tax provision $ 2.0 $ 7.7 $ 10.8 $ 23.7 

Effective income tax rate 10.2 % (258.1)% 22.9 % 43.3 %

Our provision for income taxes for the three months ended June 30, 2021 was $2.0 million, resulting in an effective income tax rate of 10.2%. The
provision includes a net discrete income tax benefit of $2.6 million, of which $4.5 million relates to the impact of a change in the United Kingdom's tax rate,
reduced by a net discrete tax expense of $1.9 million related to other worldwide tax adjustments. For the three months ended June 30, 2020, our provision for
income taxes was $7.7 million resulting in an effective tax rate of (258.1%), which included a net discrete income tax expense of $3.4 million.

Our provision for income taxes for the six months ended June 30, 2021 was $10.8 million, resulting in an effective income tax rate of 22.9%. The
provision includes a net discrete income tax benefit of $3.8 million, which includes a $4.5 million tax benefit related to the impact of a change in the United
Kingdom's tax rate and a $1.6 million tax benefit related to an adjustment for the final purchase price allocation on the sale of the MultiService payment
solutions business ("MSTS"), offset by a net discrete tax expense of $2.3 million related to other worldwide tax adjustments. For the six months ended June
30, 2020, our provision for income taxes was $23.7 million resulting in an effective tax rate of 43.3%, which included a net discrete income tax expense of
$4.4 million.

Our income tax concession in Singapore, which reduces the income tax rate on qualified sales and derivative gains and losses, decreased foreign income
taxes by $0.2 million and $0.8 million for the three months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively, and $0.6 million and $2.7 million for the six months
ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. There was no impact of the income tax concession on basic and diluted earnings per common share for the three
months ended June 30, 2021. The impact of the income tax concession on basic and diluted earnings per common share was $0.01 and $0.01, respectively, for
the three months ended June 30, 2020, and $0.01 and $0.04 on basic earnings per common share and $0.01 and $0.04 on diluted earnings per common
share for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Our income tax provisions for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 were calculated based on the estimated annual effective income tax
rates for the 2021 and 2020 fiscal years respectively. The actual effective income tax rate for the 2021 fiscal year may be materially different because of
differences between estimated versus actual results and the geographic tax jurisdictions in which the results are earned.

We have various tax returns under examination both in the U.S. and foreign jurisdictions. The most significant of these are in Denmark for the 2013 -
2019 tax years, South Korea for the 2011 - 2014 tax years, and the U.S. for 2017 - 2018 tax years. One of our subsidiaries in Denmark has been under audit for
its 2013 - 2015 tax years since 2018. In January 2021, we received final tax assessments for the 2013 and 2014 tax years of approximately $0.6 million (DKK
3.7 million) and $0.8 million (DKK 4.9 million), respectively. We believe these assessments are without merit and are currently appealing the actions. In
addition, in March 2021, we received notice that the Danish subsidiary’s 2016 – 2019 tax years were also under examination. Finally, on April 28, 2021, we
received a proposed tax assessment for the 2015 tax year of approximately $15.3 million (DKK 96.1 million), which we believe is without merit. We are in the
process of responding to the proposed assessment and the 2016 - 2019 information requests. We have not yet received any proposed assessments related to the
2016 - 2019 tax years, which could be materially larger than the previous assessments if a similar methodology is applied. In 2017, the Korean Branch of one
of our subsidiaries received income tax assessment notices aggregating $10.0 million (KRW 11.3 billion) from the South Korea tax authorities. We believe
that these assessments are without merit and are currently appealing the actions. In addition, in January of 2020, we received a notice of examination from the
U.S. IRS for the 2017 - 2018 tax years and are in the process of responding to information requests. In June 2021, we received a notice of proposed adjustment
for the 2017 and 2018 tax years which is not material that we are in the process of reviewing. An unfavorable resolution of one or more of the above matters
could have a material adverse effect on our operating results or cash flows in the quarter or year in which the adjustments are recorded, or the tax is due or
paid. As examinations are still in process or have not yet reached the final stages of the appeals process, the timing of the ultimate resolution or payments that
may be required cannot be determined at this time.
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9. Business Segments

We operate in three reportable segments consisting of aviation, land and marine. Corporate expenses are allocated to the segments based on usage, where
possible, or on other factors according to the nature of the activity. Our operating segments are determined based on the different markets in which we provide
products and services, which are defined primarily by the customers and the products and services provided to those customers. Accordingly, our aviation,
land and marine segments are organized based on the specific markets their functional business components serve, which are primarily businesses and
governmental customers operating in those respective markets.

Information concerning our Revenue, Gross profit and Income from operations by reportable segment is as follows (in millions):

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
Revenue: 2021 2020 2021 2020

Aviation segment $ 2,805.8 $ 1,020.6 $ 4,900.8 $ 4,784.8 
Land segment 2,457.2 1,197.6 4,645.4 3,303.6 
Marine segment 1,822.4 940.2 3,497.1 3,085.2 

Total revenue $ 7,085.5 $ 3,158.3 $ 13,043.4 $ 11,173.5 

Gross profit:
Aviation segment $ 87.4 $ 91.9 $ 164.1 $ 185.0 
Land segment 73.8 84.8 163.3 191.0 
Marine segment 22.7 37.2 48.2 96.6 

Total gross profit $ 183.9 $ 213.9 $ 375.5 $ 472.6 

Income from operations:
Aviation segment $ 34.0 $ 9.0 $ 57.0 $ 38.1 
Land segment 8.1 9.7 40.9 35.3 
Marine segment 4.8 13.3 11.1 47.2 
Corporate overhead - unallocated (15.9) (20.1) (40.5) (37.9)

Total income from operations $ 30.9 $ 11.9 $ 68.6 $ 82.7 

Information concerning our Accounts receivable, net of allowance for credit losses and Total assets by reportable segment is as follows (in millions):

June 30, 2021 December 31, 2020
Accounts receivable, net:

Aviation segment, net of allowance for credit losses of $26.4 and $41.2 as of June 30, 2021 and
December 31, 2020, respectively $ 700.6 $ 464.7 
Land segment, net of allowance for credit losses of $3.6 and $5.0 as of June 30, 2021 and
December 31, 2020, respectively 533.4 394.5 
Marine segment, net of allowance for credit losses of $6.2 and $7.6 as of June 30, 2021 and
December 31, 2020, respectively 601.0 379.2 

Total accounts receivable, net $ 1,835.0 $ 1,238.4 

Total assets:   
Aviation segment $ 2,054.4 $ 1,789.5 
Land segment 1,652.4 1,459.5 
Marine segment 977.8 667.6 
Corporate 565.1 583.7 

Total assets $ 5,249.8 $ 4,500.3 
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10. Earnings per Common Share

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per common share for the periods presented (in millions, except per share
amounts):

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
2021 2020 2021 2020

Numerator:
Net income attributable to World Fuel $ 17.6 $ (10.2) $ 36.5 $ 31.2 

Denominator:
Weighted average common shares for basic earnings per
common share 63.4 63.3 63.2 64.1 
Effect of dilutive securities 0.4 — 0.5 0.3 
Weighted average common shares for diluted earnings
per common share 63.8 63.3 63.6 64.4 

Basic earnings (loss) per common share $ 0.28 $ (0.16) $ 0.58 $ 0.49 

Diluted earnings (loss) per common share $ 0.28 $ (0.16) $ 0.57 $ 0.48 

Weighted average securities which are not included in the
calculation of diluted earnings per common share because
their impact is anti-dilutive or their performance
conditions have not been met 0.9 3.4 0.9 2.8 

11. Commitments and Contingencies

Tax Matters

From time to time, we are under review by various domestic and foreign tax authorities with regard to indirect tax matters and are involved in various
challenges and litigation in a number of countries, including, in particular, Brazil and South Korea, where the amounts under controversy may be material. We
believe that these assessments are without merit and are currently appealing the actions.

During the quarter ended December 31, 2016, the Korean branch of one of our subsidiaries received assessments of approximately $10.4 million (KRW
11.7 billion) and during the quarter ended June 30, 2017, an assessment for an additional $17.8 million (KRW 20.1 billion) from the regional tax authorities of
Seoul, South Korea. The assessments primarily consist of fines and penalties for allegedly failing to issue Value Added Tax ("VAT") invoices and report
certain transactions during the period 2011-2014. These assessments do not involve failure to pay or collect VAT. We believe that these assessments are
without merit and are currently appealing the actions.

We are also involved in a number of tax disputes with federal, state and municipal tax authorities in Brazil, relating primarily to a VAT tax known as
ICMS. These disputes are at various stages of the legal process, including the administrative review phase and the collection action phase, and include
assessments of fixed amounts of principal and penalties, plus interest. One of our Brazilian subsidiaries is currently appealing an assessment of approximately
$11.6 million (BRL 57.3 million) from the Brazilian tax authorities relating to the ICMS rate used for certain transactions. The assessment primarily consists
of interest and penalties. We believe that the assessment is without merit and are pursuing our remedies in the judicial court system.

When we deem it appropriate, and the amounts are reasonably estimable, we establish reserves for potential adjustments to our provision for the accrual
of indirect taxes that may result from examinations or other actions by tax authorities. If events occur which indicate payment of these amounts is unnecessary,
the reversal of the liabilities will result in the recognition of benefits in the period we determine the liabilities are no longer necessary. If our estimates of any
of our federal, state, and foreign indirect tax liabilities are less than the ultimate assessment, it could result in a further charge to expense. Except with respect
to the matters described above, we believe that the final outcome of any pending examinations, agreements, administrative or judicial proceedings will not
have a material effect on our results of operations or cash flows.
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Other Matters

We are also a party to various claims, complaints and proceedings arising in the ordinary course of our business including, but not limited to,
environmental claims, commercial and governmental contract claims, such as property damage, demurrage, personal injury, billing and fuel quality claims, as
well as bankruptcy preference claims and tax and administrative claims. We have established loss provisions for these ordinary course claims as well as other
matters in which losses are probable and can be reasonably estimated. As of June 30, 2021, these reserves were not material. For those matters where a reserve
has not been established and for which we believe a loss is reasonably possible, we believe that such losses will not have a material adverse effect on our
Consolidated Financial Statements. However, any adverse resolution of one or more such claims, complaints or proceedings during a particular period could
have a material adverse effect on our Consolidated Financial Statements or disclosures for that period. 

Our estimates regarding potential losses and materiality are based on our judgment and assessment of the claims utilizing currently available information.
Although we will continue to reassess our reserves and estimates based on future developments, our objective assessment of the legal merits of such claims
may not always be predictive of the outcome and actual results may vary from our current estimates.

12. Restructuring

As a result of the review of our land business and changes in the overall economic landscape for all our reportable segments due to the COVID-19
pandemic, in the first quarter of 2020, we implemented a restructuring initiative focused on streamlining our operations and rationalizing our deployment and
allocation of resources. While we took several actions during the year ended December 31, 2020, our focus was primarily on cost-reduction initiatives in
response to the pandemic. In 2021, we heightened our focus on restructuring our land business in North America, which has included reorganizing and
relocating certain business activities, as well as implementing changes to the operational and management structure of the business. While we initially
expected to finalize the overall restructuring plan by the end of the second quarter of 2021, we elected to expand the plan in order to finalize the alignment of
processes and platforms within the land segment. We currently expect to complete the necessary activities by the end of the first quarter of 2022 and incur
additional restructuring charges of approximately $6.0 million to $8.0 million.

During the six months ended June 30, 2021, we incurred incremental charges of $5.1 million, comprised principally of external consulting fees supporting
the land restructuring and related severance costs. These costs are included in Restructuring charges in our Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income and
Comprehensive Income. Our accrued restructuring charges as of June 30, 2021 are included in Accrued expenses and other current liabilities on our
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The following table provides a summary of our restructuring activities (in millions):

Aviation Land Marine Corporate Consolidated
Accrued charges as of December 31,

2020 $ 0.9 $ 4.6 $ 0.9 $ 0.1 $ 6
Restructuring charges 0.9 4.2 — — 5
Paid during the period (0.6) (2.6) (0.3) (0.1) (3
Accrued charges as of June 30, 2021 $ 1.1 $ 6.3 $ 0.6 $ — $ 8
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Item 2.     Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our 2020 10-K Report and the unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements and
related Notes in Item 1 - Financial Statements of this 10-Q Report. A reference to a "Note" herein refers to the accompanying Notes to the Condensed
Consolidated Financial Statements contained in Item 1 - Financial Statements. The following discussion may contain forward-looking statements, and our
actual results may differ materially from the results suggested by these forward-looking statements. Some factors that may cause our results to differ are
disclosed in Item 1A - Risk Factors of our 2020 10-K Report.

Forward-Looking Statements

This 10-Q Report and the information incorporated by reference in it, or made by us in other reports, filings with the SEC, press releases, teleconferences,
industry conferences or otherwise, contain “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. The
forward-looking statements include, without limitation, any statement that may predict, forecast, indicate or imply future results, performance or
achievements, and may contain the words “believe,” “anticipate,” “expect,” “estimate,” “project,” “could,” “would,” “will,” “will be,” “will continue,” “plan,”
or words or phrases of similar meaning. Specifically, this 10-Q Report includes forward-looking statements regarding (i) the ultimate impact of the
coronavirus pandemic, or COVID-19, and related travel restrictions on us and our customers, including our expectations about demand, volume, profitability
and the impact of fuel prices, (ii) the conditions in the aviation, land, and marine markets and their impact on our business, (iii) our expectations regarding
reductions of government-related activity in Afghanistan with the North Atlantic Treaty Organization (NATO) and the timing and impact of the final troop
withdrawals on our future sales, (iv) the effectiveness of our initiatives to reduce cost, improve liquidity and increase efficiencies, as well as the impact of such
initiatives on our business, (v) our expectations regarding the reopening of our offices and the role of remote work in our operations, including any
adjustments to our plans, (vi) growth strategies and our working capital, liquidity, capital expenditure requirements, (vii) the expected benefit of our land
segment restructuring and its ability to create efficiencies and allow for greater scalability and quicker integration of new businesses to capture synergies, (viii)
our expectations and estimates regarding certain tax, legal and accounting matters, including the impact on our financial statements, (ix) our expectations
regarding the financial impact and other benefits of previous acquisitions, including estimates of future expenses and our ability to realize estimated synergies,
and (x) estimates regarding the financial impact of our derivative contracts. These forward-looking statements are qualified in their entirety by cautionary
statements and risk factor disclosures contained in our SEC filings.

These forward-looking statements are estimates and projections reflecting our best judgment and involve risks, uncertainties or other factors relating to
our operations and business environment, all of which are difficult to predict and many of which are beyond our control. Although we believe the estimates
and projections reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, our expectations may prove to be incorrect. Our actual results may differ materially
from the future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements.

Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from the results and events anticipated or implied by such forward-looking statements
include, but are not limited to:

• customer and counterparty creditworthiness and our ability to collect accounts receivable and settle derivative contracts, particularly for those
customers most significantly impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic;

• the extent of the impact of the pandemic, including the duration, spread, severity and scope of related government orders and restrictions, on ours and
our customers' sales, profitability, operations and supply chains;

• loss of, or reduced sales to a significant government customer, such as NATO;

• adverse conditions in the industries in which our customers operate, such as the current global economic environment as a result of the pandemic;

• sudden changes in the market price of fuel or extremely high or low fuel prices that continue for an extended period of time;

• our failure to comply with restrictions and covenants in our senior revolving credit facility (“Credit Facility”) and our senior term loans (“Term
Loans”), including our financial covenants;

• changes in the political, economic or regulatory environment generally and in the markets in which we operate, such as legislation enacted in
response to climate change;

• our failure to effectively hedge certain financial risks and other risks associated with derivatives;

• changes in credit terms extended to us from our suppliers;

• non-performance of suppliers on their sale commitments and customers on their purchase commitments;
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• non-performance of third-party service providers;

• our ability to meet financial forecasts associated with our operating plan;

• lower than expected cash flows and revenues, which could impair our ability to realize the value of recorded intangible assets and goodwill;

• the availability of cash and sufficient liquidity to fund our working capital and strategic investment needs;

• the impact of cyber and other information security-related incidents;

• currency exchange fluctuations;

• ability to effectively leverage technology and operating systems and realize the anticipated benefits;

• failure to meet fuel and other products specifications agreed with our customers;

• our ability to effectively integrate and derive benefits from acquired businesses;

• our ability to achieve the expected level of benefit from our restructuring activities and cost reduction initiatives;

• environmental and other risks associated with the storage, transportation and delivery of petroleum products;

• risks associated with operating in high-risk locations, including supply disruptions, border closures and other logistical difficulties that arise when
working in these areas;

• uninsured or underinsured losses;

• seasonal variability that adversely affects our revenues and operating results, as well as the impact of natural disasters, such as earthquakes,
hurricanes and wildfires;

• declines in the value and liquidity of cash equivalents and investments;

• our ability to retain and attract senior management and other key employees;

• changes in U.S. or foreign tax laws, interpretations of such laws, changes in the mix of taxable income among different tax jurisdictions, or adverse
results of tax audits, assessments, or disputes;

• our failure to generate sufficient future taxable income in jurisdictions with material deferred tax assets and net operating loss carryforwards;

• the impact of the U.K.’s exit from the European Union, known as Brexit, on our business, operations and financial condition;

• our ability to comply with U.S. and international laws and regulations, including those related to anti-corruption, economic sanction programs and
environmental matters;

• the outcome of litigation and other proceedings, including the costs associated in defending any actions;

• increases in interest rates; and

• other risks, including those described in Item 1A - Risk Factors in our 2020 10-K Report, as well as those described from time to time in our other
filings with the SEC.

We operate in a very competitive and rapidly changing environment. New risks emerge from time to time. It is not possible for us to predict all of those
risks, nor can we assess the impact of all of those risks on our business or the extent to which any factor may cause actual results to differ materially from
those contained in any forward-looking statement. Further, forward-looking statements speak only as of the date they are made, and unless required by law, we
expressly disclaim any obligation or undertaking to publicly update any of them in light of new information, future events, or otherwise. Any public
statements or disclosures by us following this report that modify or impact any of the forward-looking statements contained in or accompanying this 10-Q
Report will be deemed to modify or supersede such forward-looking statements.

For these statements, we claim the protection of the safe harbor for forward-looking statements contained in Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act, as amended (the “Exchange Act”).
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Business Overview

We are a leading global fuel services company, principally engaged in the distribution of fuel and related products and services in the aviation, land and
marine transportation industries. In recent years, we have expanded our land product and service offerings to include energy advisory services and supply
fulfillment for natural gas and power to commercial, industrial and government customers. Our intention is to become a leading global energy management
company offering a full suite of energy advisory, management and fulfillment services, technology solutions, payment management solutions, as well as
sustainability products and services across the energy product spectrum. We will continue to focus on enhancing the portfolio of products and services we
provide based on changes in customer demand, including sustainability offerings and renewable energy solutions.

COVID-19

Throughout 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic had a significant impact on the global economy as a whole, and the transportation industries in particular,
which has continued into 2021. Many of our customers in these industries, especially commercial airlines, have experienced a substantial decline in business
activity arising from the various measures enacted by governments around the world to contain the spread of the virus. While travel and economic activity has
begun to improve in certain regions, activity in many parts of the world continues to be negatively impacted by travel restrictions and lockdowns.

In response to the challenges arising from the pandemic, we took swift action to ensure the safety of our employees and other stakeholders by
implementing our business continuity and emergency response plans and maximizing remote work throughout our global offices. Since the first quarter of
2020, many of our employees have been collaborating virtually with our customers, suppliers and each other using the information-sharing tools and
technology that we have invested in over the last several years. In connection therewith, we also commenced a number of initiatives in 2020 relating to cost
reduction, liquidity and operating efficiencies, which remain an area of focus for us in 2021. While we expect that a number of our offices will reopen in the
latter half of 2021, we believe that remote work will continue to be an integral part of our response plan as we monitor and assess public health developments
and make appropriate adjustments to support the well-being of our employees.

As a result of the pandemic, we experienced a sharp decline in demand and related sales primarily beginning in the second quarter of 2020, as large
sectors of the global economy were adversely impacted by the crisis. Demand showed some moderate improvement through the second half of 2020 and into
2021, however, it has remained well below pre-pandemic levels, as described in greater detail below and we expect these negative impacts to continue through
2021. The ultimate global recovery from the pandemic will be dependent on, among other things, actions taken by governments and businesses to contain and
combat the virus, including any variant strains, the speed and effectiveness of vaccine production and global distribution, as well as how quickly, and to what
extent, normal economic and operating conditions can resume on a sustainable basis globally. For additional discussion on the risks relating to the pandemic,
see Item 1A - Risk Factors in our 2020 10-K Report.

Reportable Segments

We operate in three reportable segments consisting of aviation, land, and marine, where we offer fuel and related products and services to customers in
these transportation industries. Within each of our segments, we may enter into derivative contracts to mitigate the risk of market price fluctuations and also to
offer our customers fuel pricing alternatives to meet their needs.

In our aviation and land segments, we primarily purchase and resell fuel and other products. Profit from our aviation and land segments is generally
determined by the volume and the gross profit achieved on fuel sales and related services. In our marine segment, we principally purchase and resell fuel and
also act as brokers for others. Profit from our marine segment is determined mostly by the volume and unit margin achieved on fuel resales. Profitability in our
segments also depends on our operating expenses, which may be materially affected to the extent that we are required to provide for potential credit losses.

Corporate expenses are allocated to each segment based on usage, where possible, or other factors according to the nature of the activity. We evaluate and
manage our business segments using the performance measurement of income from operations.

Selected financial information with respect to our business segments is provided in Note 9. Business Segments.
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Aviation Segment

Our aviation segment has historically benefited from growth in our fuel and related services offerings, as well as our improving logistics capability and
the geographic expansion of our aviation fueling operations into additional international airport locations. However, the global travel restrictions and sharp
decrease in demand for air travel resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic have significantly impacted the overall aviation market, and commercial passenger
airlines in particular, throughout 2020 and into 2021. Accordingly, beginning in the second quarter of 2020 and continuing through the first half of 2021, we
have experienced a material volume decline in our commercial aviation business as compared to pre-pandemic levels and, to a somewhat lesser extent, a
reduction in our business and general aviation activities. While we have begun to experience improvements in demand and related volume increases in certain
regions, our results of operations in our aviation segment for the balance of 2021 remains uncertain. Any material recovery in demand will be highly
contingent on the timing and extent of governmental actions or restrictions globally in response to any increases in infection rates and the overall recovery of
the global economy from the effects of the pandemic.

In addition, our aviation segment has historically benefited from significant sales to NATO in Afghanistan, which has accounted for a material portion of
our aviation segment's profitability in recent years. The level of troop deployments and military-related activities can cause our government customer sales to
vary significantly and materially impact our operating results. Specifically, in 2020 the U.S. government significantly reduced the level of troops in
Afghanistan, including the troops supporting NATO. As a result, we experienced a material decline in demand throughout 2020, which continued into 2021.
Beginning in May 2021, the U.S. and NATO began their final withdrawal of the remaining U.S. and NATO troops in the area to be completed by September
11, 2021. In July, the U.S. announced that its withdrawal was nearing completion and would conclude by August 31, 2021. In connection therewith, we expect
to experience additional material decline in our sales to NATO in Afghanistan.

Land Segment

Our land segment consists of land fuel distribution in the U.S. and the U.K., further complemented by our expansion into energy advisory, brokerage and
fulfillment solutions with respect to power, natural gas and other energy products. We also offer sustainability consulting, renewable fuel products, and carbon
management and renewable energy solutions through World Kinect, our global energy management brand. Due to the diverse portfolio of customers,
businesses and activities within our land segment, the COVID-19 related impacts have been varied. During the latter half of 2020 and into 2021, our retail
operations in North America have experienced an increase in volumes as markets begin to resume economic activity. Meanwhile, our home heating oil
business in the U.K. experienced a decrease in demand in the first half of 2021 after previously benefiting from stay-at-home orders during the same period in
2020. Accordingly, the timing and extent of improvement in the overall operating results of our land segment are more difficult to predict and will continue to
be dependent on the timing and extent to which travel restrictions are ultimately lifted and local business activities fully reopen. In addition, for the same
reasons as those described in the aviation segment, we have experienced a material decline in demand in our government business since the end of the first
quarter of 2020 and similarly expect such sales to materially decline in connection with the U.S. and NATO troop withdrawal.

In 2021, we heightened our focus on restructuring our land business in North America, which has included reorganizing and relocating certain business
activities, as well as implementing changes to the operational and management structure of the business. While we initially expected to complete the
restructuring activities in the second quarter of 2021, we elected to expand the plan in order to finalize the alignment of processes and platforms within the
land segment to focus not just on creating efficiencies within the existing business, but to allow for greater scalability and quicker integration of new
businesses to capture synergies. To complete the additional activities, we expect to incur incremental restructuring charges of approximately $6.0 million to
$8.0 million, primarily related to consulting fees, by the end of first quarter of 2022. We expect the ultimate financial benefit of the restructuring to be realized
as new businesses are acquired and integrated into our land segment. See Note 12. Restructuring for additional information.

Marine Segment

Through much of 2019 and into early 2020, we experienced improved profitability in our marine segment due to higher average fuel prices, combined
with our heightened focus on cost management and continued reshaping of our business portfolio. In particular, the International Maritime Organization's
mandatory low sulfur regulations that took effect in January 2020 ("IMO 2020") resulted in certain supply imbalances and price volatility which positively
impacted our operating results in those periods. However, beginning in the latter part of the first quarter of 2020 and continuing through the first half of 2021,
we experienced a material decline in volume and related profitability primarily due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the marine transportation
industry. While we have experienced some improvements in demand, we expect our marine segment’s operating performance to continue to be impacted by
the pandemic throughout 2021. This is due to among other things, uncertain demand from cruise lines and certain other sectors of the shipping industry, as
well as competitive market conditions and limited price volatility.
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Results of Operations

Three Months Ended June 30, 2021 Compared to Three Months Ended June 30, 2020

Revenue. Our revenue for the second quarter of 2021 was $7.1 billion, an increase of $3.9 billion, or 124%, compared to the second quarter of 2020. Our
revenue by segment was as follows (in millions):

Three Months Ended June 30,
2021 2020 $ Change

Aviation segment $ 2,805.8 $ 1,020.6 $ 1,785.2 
Land segment 2,457.2 1,197.6 1,259.7 
Marine segment 1,822.4 940.2 882.3 

Total revenue $ 7,085.5 $ 3,158.3 $ 3,927.1 

Revenues in our aviation segment were $2.8 billion for the second quarter of 2021, an increase of $1.8 billion, or 175%, compared to the second quarter
of 2020. The increase in revenue was driven by increased volume and higher average prices. Total aviation volumes increased by 685.6 million, or 100%, to
1.4 billion gallons as travel restrictions eased, primarily in the North American market, and demand for air travel continues to recover. Average jet fuel price
per gallon sold increased by 87% in the second quarter of 2021 compared to the second quarter of 2020.

Revenues in our land segment were $2.5 billion for the second quarter of 2021, an increase of $1.3 billion, or 105%, compared to the second quarter of
2020. The increase in revenue was principally driven by higher average prices. The average price per gallon sold increased by 89% in the second quarter of
2021 compared to the second quarter of 2020. In addition, total volumes increased by 120.2 million, or 10%, to 1.3 billion gallons or gallon equivalents in the
second quarter of 2021 compared to the second quarter of 2020, primarily due to increased demand in our retail operations in North America.

Revenues in our marine segment were $1.8 billion for the second quarter of 2021, an increase of $882.3 million, or 94%, compared to the second quarter
of 2020. The increase in revenue was principally driven by a 69% increase in the average price per metric ton of bunker fuel sold in the second quarter of 2021
compared to the second quarter of 2020. In addition, total volumes increased by 0.6 million, or 15%, to 4.6 million metric tons in the second quarter of 2021
compared to the second quarter of 2020.

Gross Profit. Our gross profit for the second quarter of 2021 was $183.9 million, a decrease of $30.0 million, or 14%, compared to the second quarter of
2020. Our gross profit by segment was as follows (in millions):

Three Months Ended June 30,
2021 2020 $ Change

Aviation segment $ 87.4 $ 91.9 $ (4.5)
Land segment 73.8 84.8 (10.9)
Marine segment 22.7 37.2 (14.5)

Total gross profit $ 183.9 $ 213.9 $ (30.0)

 Our aviation segment gross profit for the second quarter of 2021 was $87.4 million, a decrease of $4.5 million, or 5%, compared to the second quarter of
2020. The decrease in gross profit was driven by a reduction in our government-related activity in Afghanistan as a result of the ongoing military withdrawal,
the decrease in average margins due to returning to a more normalized core business mix, and lower physical inventory gains when compared with the second
quarter of 2020.

Our land segment gross profit for the second quarter of 2021 was $73.8 million, a decrease of $10.9 million, or 13%, compared to the second quarter of
2020. The decrease in gross profit was primarily attributable to the sale of MSTS, partially offset by increased demand in North America and World Kinect.

Our marine segment gross profit for the second quarter of 2021 was $22.7 million, a decrease of $14.5 million, or 39%, compared to the second quarter of
2020. The decrease in gross profit was principally attributable to lower profitability as compared to the second quarter of 2020, which benefited from volatility
arising from the implementation of the IMO 2020 regulations, as well as competitive market conditions and limited price volatility in the second quarter of
2021.
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Operating Expenses. Total operating expenses for the second quarter of 2021 were $153.0 million, a decrease of $49.0 million, or 24%, compared to
2020. Our operating expenses were as follows (in millions):

Three Months Ended June 30,
2021 2020 $ Change

Compensation and employee benefits $ 87.9 $ 95.9 $ (8.0)
General and administrative 57.4 84.4 (27.0)
Asset impairments 4.7 18.6 (13.9)
Restructuring charges 3.0 3.1 (0.1)

Total operating expense $ 153.0 $ 202.0 $ (49.0)

General and administrative expenses decreased $27.0 million, primarily driven by a $25.8 million, or 105%, decrease in our provision for credit losses
due to the stabilization of customer credit risk as the global economy continues to recover from the negative effects of the pandemic and the sale of MSTS. In
addition, employee compensation costs decreased by $8.0 million, or 8%, in the second quarter of 2021 compared to the second quarter of 2020, also
principally due to the sale of MSTS. In 2020, total operating expense was also impacted by impairment charges associated with our decision to rationalize our
global office footprint.

Income from Operations. Our income from operations for the second quarter of 2021 was $30.9 million, an increase of $19.1 million, or 160%, compared
to the second quarter of 2020. Income from operations by segment was as follows (in millions):

Three Months Ended June 30,
2021 2020 $ Change

Aviation segment $ 34.0 $ 9.0 $ 25.1 
Land segment 8.1 9.7 (1.6)
Marine segment 4.8 13.3 (8.6)
Corporate overhead - unallocated (15.9) (20.1) 4.2 

Total income from operations $ 30.9 $ 11.9 $ 19.1 

Income from operations in our aviation segment for the second quarter of 2021 was $34.0 million, an increase of $25.1 million, or 279%, compared to the
second quarter of 2020. In 2021, our aviation segment principally benefited from a reduction in the provision for credit losses due to the stabilization of
customer credit risk as the global aviation industry continues to recover and the global office footprint rationalization that resulted in the recognition of an
impairment in the second quarter of 2020.

In our land segment, income from operations for the second quarter of 2021 was $8.1 million, a decrease of $1.6 million, or 17%, compared to 2020,
attributable due to the sale of MSTS in 2020 as well as costs incurred during the second quarter of 2020 associated with a specific business opportunity.

Our marine segment income from operations for the second quarter of 2021 was $4.8 million, a decrease of $8.6 million, or 64%, compared to the second
quarter of 2020, which benefited from volatility arising from the implementation of the IMO 2020 regulations, as well as competitive market conditions and
limited price volatility in the second quarter of 2021, partially offset by a $6.0 million reduction in operating expenses largely driven by the decrease in our
provision for credit losses in the second quarter of 2021.

Corporate overhead costs not charged to the business segments for the second quarter of 2021 were $15.9 million, a decrease of $4.2 million, or 21%,
compared to 2020, primarily attributable to the impairment charge recognized in 2020 as part of the office footprint rationalization and divestiture related costs
incurred in the second quarter of 2020.

Non-Operating Income (Expense), net. For the second quarter of 2021, we had a non-operating expense of $11.4 million compared to $14.9 million in
2020. Non-operating expenses were higher in the second quarter of 2020, primarily as a result of foreign currency losses.

Income Taxes. For the second quarter of 2021, our income tax provision was $2.0 million and our effective income tax rate was 10%, compared to an
income tax provision of $7.7 million and an effective income tax rate of (258 %) for the second quarter of 2020. The change in income tax provision resulted
primarily from differences in the results of our subsidiaries in tax jurisdictions with different tax rates, and a $2.6 million discrete tax benefit, net for the
second quarter of 2021 compared to a $3.4 million discrete tax expense, net in 2020. See Note 8. Income Taxes for additional information.

24



Net Income Attributable to World Fuel and Diluted Earnings per Common Share. For the second quarter of 2021, we had net income attributable to World
Fuel of $17.6 million and diluted income per common share of $0.28 compared to net loss attributable to World Fuel of $10.2 million and diluted loss per
common share of $0.16 for the second quarter of 2020.

Six Months Ended June 30, 2021 Compared to Six Months Ended June 30, 2020

Revenue. Our revenue for the first six months of 2021 was $13.0 billion, an increase of $1.9 billion, or 17%, compared to the first six months of 2020.
Our revenue by segment was as follows (in millions):

Six Months Ended June 30,
2021 2020 $ Change

Aviation segment $ 4,900.8 $ 4,784.8 $ 116.1 
Land segment 4,645.4 3,303.6 1,341.8 
Marine segment 3,497.1 3,085.2 411.9 

Total revenue $ 13,043.4 $ 11,173.5 $ 1,869.9 

Revenues in our aviation segment were $4.9 billion for the first six months of 2021, an increase of $116.1 million, or 2%, compared to the first six months
of 2020. The increase in revenue was driven by higher average prices, partially offset by decreased volumes. Average jet fuel price per gallon sold increased
by 16% in the first six months of 2021 compared to the first six months of 2020. Total aviation volumes decreased by 15.7 million, or 1%, to 2.5 billion
gallons, as a result of the decline in activity in our commercial aviation business due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on air travel beginning in the
second quarter of 2020.

Revenues in our land segment were $4.6 billion for the first six months of 2021, an increase of $1.3 billion, or 41%, compared to the first six months of
2020. The increase in revenue was driven by higher average prices and increased volume. Average fuel price sold increased 40% in the first six months of
2021 compared to the first six months of 2020. Total volumes increased by 42.2 million, or 2%, to 2.6 billion gallon or gallon equivalents in the first six
months of 2021 compared to the first six months of 2020, primarily driven by growth in World Kinect.

Revenues in our marine segment were $3.5 billion for the first six months of 2021, an increase of $411.9 million, or 13%, compared to the first six
months of 2020. The increase in revenue was driven by a 14% increase in the average price per metric ton of bunker fuel sold, partially offset by decreased
volume. Total volumes decreased by 0.1 metric tons, or 1%, from 8.9 to 8.8 million metric tons in the first six months of 2021 compared to 2020.

Gross Profit. Our gross profit for the first six months of 2021 was $375.5 million, a decrease of $97.1 million, or 21%, compared to the first six months of
2020. Our gross profit by segment was as follows (in millions):

Six Months Ended June 30,
2021 2020 $ Change

Aviation segment $ 164.1 $ 185.0 $ (21.0)
Land segment 163.3 191.0 (27.8)
Marine segment 48.2 96.6 (48.4)

Total gross profit $ 375.5 $ 472.6 $ (97.1)

Our aviation segment gross profit for the first six months of 2021 was $164.1 million, a decrease of $21.0 million, or 11%, compared to the first six
months of 2020. The decrease in gross profit was primarily due to the continued reduction in our government-related activity in Afghanistan as a result of the
ongoing military withdrawal, partially offset by recovery in demand for air travel.

Our land segment gross profit for the first six months of 2021 was $163.3 million, a decrease of $27.8 million, or 15%, compared to the first six months
of 2020. The decrease in gross profit was primarily attributable to the sale of MSTS, partially offset by improved performance by our natural gas business in
North America.

Our marine segment gross profit for the first six months of 2021 was $48.2 million, a decrease of $48.4 million, or 50%, compared to the first six months
of 2020. The decrease in gross profit was primarily attributable to lower profitability as compared to the strong results in the first six months of 2020, which
benefited from volatility arising from the implementation of the IMO 2020 regulations, as well as competitive market conditions and limited price volatility in
the first six months of 2021.
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Operating Expenses. Total operating expenses for the first six months of 2021 were $306.9 million, a decrease of $83.0 million, or 21%, compared to the
first six months of 2020. Our operating expenses were as follows (in millions):

Six Months Ended June 30,
2021 2020 $ Change

Compensation and employee benefits $ 180.3 $ 198.3 $ (18.0)
General and administrative 116.8 168.2 (51.4)
Asset impairments 4.7 18.6 (13.9)
Restructuring charges 5.1 4.8 0.3 

Total operating expense $ 306.9 $ 389.9 $ (83.0)

Our general and administrative expenses materially decreased compared to the first six months of 2020, primarily driven by a $32.2 million, or 93%,
decrease in our provision for credit losses due to the stabilization of customer credit risk as the global economy continues to recover from the negative effects
of the pandemic combined with the sale of MSTS and the cost-reduction initiatives started in 2020. Additionally, employee compensation costs decreased by
$18.0 million, or 8%, in the first six months of 2021 compared to the first six months of 2020, principally due to the sale of MSTS. In 2020, total operating
expense was also impacted by impairment charges associated with our decision to rationalize our global office footprint.

Income from Operations. Our income from operations for the first six months of 2021 was $68.6 million, a decrease of $14.1 million, or 17%, compared
to the first six months of 2020. Income from operations by segment was as follows (in millions):

Six Months Ended June 30,
2021 2020 $ Change

Aviation segment $ 57.0 $ 38.1 $ 18.9 
Land segment 40.9 35.3 5.5 
Marine segment 11.1 47.2 (36.1)
Corporate overhead - unallocated (40.5) (37.9) (2.5)

Total income from operations $ 68.6 $ 82.7 $ (14.1)

Our aviation segment income from operations for the first six months of 2021 was $57.0 million, an increase of $18.9 million compared to the first six
months of 2020. In 2021, the decrease in the gross profit was offset by a reduction in the provision for credit losses due to the stabilization of customer credit
risk as the global aviation industry continues to recover, as well as the impairment recognized in the second quarter of 2020 as a result of the global office
footprint rationalization.

Our land segment income from operations for the first six months of 2021 was $40.9 million, an increase of $5.5 million compared to the first six months
of 2020, driven primarily by improved performance by our natural gas business in North America, partially offset by the sale of MSTS in 2020.

Our marine segment income from operations for the first six months of 2021 was $11.1 million, a decrease of $36.1 million, compared to 2020. The
decrease in operating income was primarily attributable to the strong results in the first six months of 2020, which benefited from volatility arising from the
implementation of the IMO 2020 regulations, as well as competitive market conditions and limited price volatility in the first six months of 2021. The lower
gross profit was partially offset by a decrease in operating expenses, including the provision for credit losses, as well as the impairment recognized in 2020 as
a result of the global office footprint rationalization.

Corporate overhead costs not charged to the business segments for the first six months of 2021 were $40.5 million, an increase of $2.5 million, or 7%,
compared to the first six months of 2020, primarily attributable to an increase in unallocated employee compensation and benefit costs, partially offset by the
impairment charge recognized in 2020 as part of the global office footprint rationalization.

Non-Operating Income (Expenses), net. For the first six months of 2021, we had net non-operating income of $21.3 million, compared to net non-
operating expenses of $28.1 million the first six months of 2020. Non-operating expenses were higher in the second half of 2020, primarily as a result of
foreign currency losses.

Income Taxes. For the first six months of 2021, our income tax provision was $10.8 million and our effective income tax rate was 23%, as compared to an
income tax provision of $23.7 million and an effective income tax rate of 43% for the first six months of 2020. The lower tax provision was principally a
result of the jurisdictional income mix and a discrete tax benefit of $3.8 million, net in 2021 compared to a discrete tax expense of $4.4 million, net in 2020.
See Note 8. Income Taxes for additional information.
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Net Income Attributable to World Fuel and Diluted Earnings per Common Share. For the first six months of 2021, we had a net income of $36.5 million
and diluted earnings per common share of $0.57 as compared to net income of $31.2 million and diluted earnings per common share of $0.48 for the first six
months of 2020.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our liquidity, consisting of cash, cash equivalents and availability under the Credit Facility fluctuates based on a number of factors, including the timing
of receipts from our customers, payments to our suppliers, changes in fuel prices, as well as our financial performance, which drives availability under our
Credit Facility. Our availability under our Credit Facility, for example, is limited by, among other things, our consolidated total leverage ratio, which is defined
in the Credit Facility and is based in part on our adjusted consolidated earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (“Adjusted EBITDA”) for
the four immediately preceding fiscal quarters. Accordingly, significant fluctuations in our Adjusted EBITDA for a particular quarter can impact our
availability to the extent it significantly alters our Adjusted EBITDA for the applicable preceding four quarters. See Item 1A - Risk Factors in our 2020 10-K
Report for additional information.

Cash and liquidity are significant priorities for us and our primary use of cash and liquidity is to fund working capital and strategic investments. Increases
in fuel prices can negatively affect liquidity by increasing the amount of cash required to fund fuel purchases. In addition, while we are usually extended
unsecured trade credit from our suppliers for our fuel purchases, higher fuel prices may reduce the amount of fuel which we can purchase on an unsecured
basis, and in certain cases, we may be required to prepay fuel purchases, which would negatively impact our liquidity. Fuel price increases may also
negatively impact our customers, in that they may not be able to purchase as much fuel from us because of their credit limits with us and the resulting adverse
impact on their business could cause them to be unable to make payments owed to us for fuel purchased on credit. They may also choose to reduce the amount
of fuel they consume in their operations to reduce costs. In any such event, the volume of orders from our customers may thereafter decrease and we may not
be able to replace lost volumes with new or existing customers.

As described in greater detail above, the COVID-19 pandemic is expected to continue to have an adverse impact on our customers, and therefore our own
operating results throughout 2021, which could have a negative impact on our liquidity in the future. However, based on the information currently available,
we believe that our cash and cash equivalents as of June 30, 2021 and available funds from our Credit Facility, together with cash flows generated by
operations, are sufficient to fund our working capital and capital expenditure requirements for at least the next twelve months. We may choose to raise
additional funds to further enhance our liquidity profile, which may be used for working capital, capital expenditures or other strategic investments. Our
opinions concerning liquidity are based on currently available information and if circumstances change significantly, whether as a result of the COVID-19
pandemic or otherwise, the future availability of trade credit or other sources of financing may be reduced, and our liquidity would be adversely affected.
Factors that may affect the availability of trade credit or other forms of financing include our financial performance (as measured by various factors, including
cash provided by operating activities), the state of worldwide credit markets, and our levels of outstanding debt. Depending on the severity and direct impact
of these factors on us, financing may be limited or unavailable on terms favorable to us.

Cash Flows

The following table reflects the major categories of cash flows for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 (in millions). For additional details,
please see the unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Six Months Ended June 30,
2021 2020

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities $ 140.6 $ 245.1 
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (19.7) (168.7)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (35.7) 394.9 

Operating Activities. For the first six months of 2021, net cash provided by operating activities was $140.6 million, compared to $245.1 million net cash
provided during the first six months of 2020. The $104.5 million decrease was driven primarily by a decrease in working capital, excluding cash, of $53.4
million, a decrease in noncash adjustments of $36.1 million, principally associated with a decrease in credit loss reserves, and a net $20.4 million decrease in
long-term assets and liabilities, partially offset by a $5.5 million increase in net income. The $53.4 million change in working capital was primarily driven by
an increase in accounts receivable, inventories, and prepaid expenses, partially offset by a decrease in accounts payable, accrued expenses, and other current
liabilities, as well as a decrease in derivative and other current assets.
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Investing Activities. For the first six months of 2021, net cash used in investing activities was $19.7 million, compared to net cash used of $168.7 million
in the first six months of 2020. The $149.1 million decrease in cash flows was primarily due to net cash paid of $130.6 million for the acquisition of our UVair
fuel business during the first quarter of 2020 and a decrease in capital expenditures of $18.7 million.

Financing Activities. For the first six months of 2021, net cash used in financing activities was $35.7 million compared to net cash provided of $394.9
million for the first six months of 2020. The $430.6 million increase in net cash used was principally due to $475.0 million in lower net borrowings of debt
under our credit facility, partially offset by a $55.6 million decrease in common stock repurchases.

Other Liquidity Measures

Cash and Cash Equivalents. As of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, we had cash and cash equivalents of $742.7 million and $658.8 million,
respectively.

Credit Facility and Term Loans. We had $497.0 million and $503.2 million in Term Loans outstanding as of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020,
respectively. Our Credit Agreement, as amended, consists of a revolving loan under which up to $1.3 billion aggregate principal amount may be borrowed,
repaid and redrawn, based upon specific financial ratios and subject to the satisfaction of other customary conditions to borrowing. Our Credit Facility
includes a sublimit of $400.0 million for the issuance of letters of credit and bankers' acceptances. Under the Credit Facility, we have the right to request
increases in available borrowings up to an additional $400.0 million, subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions and we have the right to request increases
in available borrowings up to an additional $200.0 million, subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions. The Credit Facility matures July 2024.

We had no outstanding borrowings under our Credit Facility as of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020. Our issued letters of credit under the Credit
Facility totaled $3.5 million and $3.4 million as of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively. The unused portion of our Credit Facility was $1.3
billion as of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020. The unused portion of our Credit Facility is limited by, among other things, our financial leverage ratio,
which limits the total amount of indebtedness we may incur, and may, therefore, fluctuate from period to period.

Our Credit Facility and Term Loans contain certain financial and other covenants with which we are required to comply. Our failure to comply with the
covenants contained in our Credit Facility and our Term Loans could result in an event of default. An event of default, if not cured or waived, would permit
acceleration of any outstanding indebtedness under the Credit Facility and our Term Loans, trigger cross-defaults under certain other agreements to which we
are a party and impair our ability to obtain working capital advances and issue letters of credit, which would have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. As of June 30, 2021, we were in compliance with all financial covenants contained in our Credit
Facility and our Term Loans.

Other Agreements. Additionally, we have other uncommitted credit lines primarily for the issuance of letters of credit, bank guarantees and bankers’
acceptances. These credit lines are renewable on an annual basis and are subject to fees at market rates. As of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, our
outstanding letters of credit and bank guarantees under these credit lines totaled $350.5 million and $328.4 million, respectively.

We also have accounts receivable financing programs under receivables purchase agreements (“RPAs”) with Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. and Citibank, N.A.
that allow for the sale of our accounts receivable in an amount up to 100% of our outstanding qualifying accounts receivable balances and receive cash
consideration equal to the total balance, less a discount margin equal to LIBOR plus 1.00% to 3.25%, which varies based on the outstanding accounts
receivable at any given time and assumes maximum utilization of the RPA facilities. The RPA agreements provide the banks with the ability to add or remove
customers from these programs based on, among other things, the level of risk exposure the bank is willing to accept with respect to any customer. The fees
the banks charge us to purchase the receivables from these customers can also be impacted for these reasons. During the six months ended June 30, 2021 and
2020, we sold receivables under our RPAs with an aggregate face value of $4.3 billion and $2.2 billion, respectively, and paid fees and interest of $9.4 million
and $5.5 million, respectively.

Short-Term Debt. As of June 30, 2021, our short-term debt of $30.1 million primarily represents the current maturities (within the next twelve months) of
Term Loan borrowings and finance lease obligations.

Contractual Obligations and Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Except for changes in the contractual obligations and off-balance sheet arrangements described below, there were no other material changes from
December 31, 2020 to June 30, 2021. For a discussion of these matters, refer to Item 7 - Contractual Obligations and Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements of our
2020 10-K Report.
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Contractual Obligations

Derivative Obligations. As of June 30, 2021, our net derivative obligations were $133.9 million, principally due within one year.

Purchase Commitment Obligations. As of June 30, 2021, fixed purchase commitments under our derivative programs amounted to $76.2 million, of
which $39.3 million is due within one year.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Letters of Credit and Bank Guarantees. In the normal course of business, we are required to provide letters of credit to certain suppliers. A majority of
these letters of credit expire within one year from their issuance and are renewed as needed. As of June 30, 2021, we had issued letters of credit and bank
guarantees totaling $354.0 million under our Credit Facility and other uncommitted credit lines. For additional information on our Credit Facility and other
credit lines, see the discussion in Liquidity and Capital Resources above.

Critical Accounting Estimates

The unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America (“U.S. GAAP”). The significant accounting policies used are disclosed in Item 15 - Financial Statement Schedules, Note 1. Basis of
Presentation, New Accounting Standards and Significant Accounting Policies to the Consolidated Financial Statements in our 2020 10-K report.

We make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts on our unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements and accompanying
Notes as of the date of the unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

Impairment Assessments of Goodwill, Long-Lived Assets and Equity Investments

We assess accounting estimates that require consideration of forecasted financial information, including, but not limited to, the recoverability of the
carrying value of our goodwill, long-lived assets and equity investments. Significant judgment is involved in performing these estimates as they are developed
based on forecasted assumptions. As of June 30, 2021, the assumptions used were defined in the context of the current and future potential impact of COVID-
19 on our business. However, at this time, we are unable to predict with specificity the ultimate impact of the pandemic, as it will depend on the magnitude,
severity and duration, as well as how quickly, and to what extent, normal economic and operating conditions resume on a sustainable basis globally. Other
business factors such as the reduction of government-related activity in Afghanistan were considered.

Based on the assessments performed, and supported by the available information as of June 30, 2021, we concluded that no material impairment of long-
lived assets, intangibles and equity method investments should be recognized and it was not more likely than not that the fair value of our land and aviation
reporting units were less than their respective carrying values. If the impact of the pandemic is more severe or longer in duration than we have assumed, such
impact could potentially result in impairments.

For further information, see Note 6. Fair Value Measurements and Note 12. Restructuring.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Information regarding new accounting pronouncements is included in Note 1. Basis of Presentation, New Accounting Standards, and Significant
Accounting Policies.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Derivative Instruments

There have been no material changes to our exposures to commodity price, interest rate, or foreign currency risk since December 31, 2020. Please refer to
our 2020 10-K Report for a complete discussion of our exposure to these risks.

For information about our derivative instruments at their respective fair value positions as of June 30, 2021, see Note 4. Derivative Instruments. 

Item 4.    Controls and Procedures

Management’s Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports that we file or submit
under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such
information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and our Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”),
as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required financial disclosure.
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As of the end of the period covered by this 10-Q Report, we evaluated, under the supervision and with the participation of our CEO and CFO, the
effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e). Based upon this evaluation, the
CEO and CFO concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at a reasonable assurance level as of June 30, 2021.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal
control over financial reporting during the three months ended June 30, 2021.

It should be noted that any system of controls, however well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance that the
objectives of the system will be met. In addition, the design of any control system is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future
events. Because of these and other inherent limitations of control systems, there is only the reasonable assurance that our controls will succeed in achieving
their goals under all potential future conditions.
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Part II — Other Information

Item 1.     Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we are under review by the IRS and various other domestic and foreign tax authorities with regards to income tax and indirect tax
matters and are involved in various inquiries, audits, challenges and litigation in a number of countries, including, in particular, Brazil, Denmark, South Korea
and the U.S. where the amounts under controversy may be material. See Note 8. Income Taxes and Note 11. Commitments and Contingencies within this 10-
Q Report as well as Note 9. Commitments and Contingencies and Note 11. Income Taxes within Part IV. Item 15 - Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements in our 2020 10-K Report for additional details regarding certain tax matters.

We are also a party to various claims, complaints and proceedings arising in the ordinary course of our business including, but not limited to,
environmental claims, commercial and governmental contract claims, such as property damage, demurrage, personal injury, billing and fuel quality claims, as
well as bankruptcy preference claims and administrative claims. We are not currently a party to any such claim, complaint or proceeding that we expect to
have a material adverse effect on our business or financial condition. However, any adverse resolution of one or more such claims, complaints or proceedings
during a particular reporting period could have a material adverse effect on our Consolidated Financial Statements or disclosures for that period.

Item 2.     Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

The following table presents information with respect to repurchases of common stock made by us during the three months ended June 30, 2021 (in
thousands, except average price paid per share):

Period

Total Number
of Shares

Purchased (1)
Average Price
Paid Per Share

Total Number
of Shares Purchased
as Part of Publicly
Announced Plans

or Programs

Approximate Dollar
Value of Shares that

May Yet Be Purchased
Under the Plans or

Programs (2)
4/1/2021 - 4/30/2021 — $ — — $ 246,258 
5/1/2021 - 5/31/2021 — — — 246,258 
6/1/2021 - 6/30/2021 — — — 246,258 
Total — $ — — $ 246,258 

(1)    These amounts include shares purchased as part of our publicly announced programs and shares owned and tendered by employees to satisfy the required
withholding taxes related to share-based payment awards, which are not deducted from shares available to be purchased under publicly announced
programs.

(2)    In October 2017, our Board of Directors (the "Board") approved a new common stock repurchase program (the “Repurchase Program”), which replaced
the program in place at that time, authorizing $100.0 million in common stock repurchases. In May 2019, the Board authorized an increase to the October
2017 repurchase authorization by $100.0 million, bringing the authorized repurchases at that time to $200.0 million. In March 2020, the Board approved a
new stock repurchase program authorizing $200.0 million in common stock repurchases to begin upon the completion of the October 2017 Repurchase
Program. Our repurchase programs do not require a minimum number of shares of common stock to be purchased, have no expiration date and may be
suspended or discontinued at any time. As of June 30, 2021, approximately $246.3 million remains available for purchase under our repurchase programs.
The timing and amount of shares of common stock to be repurchased under the repurchase programs will depend on market conditions, share price,
securities law and other legal requirements and factors.
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Item 6.     Exhibits 

The exhibits set forth in the following index of exhibits are filed as part of this 10-Q Report:

Exhibit No. Description
10.1 Form of Named Executive Officer Restricted Stock Unit Grant Agreement under the 2020 Omnibus Plan.

31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d — 14(a).

31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d — 14(a).

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer under Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
 

101 The following materials from World Fuel Services Corporation’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2021,
formatted in XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language); (i) Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) Condensed Consolidated
Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income, (iii) Condensed Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity, (iv) Condensed
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, and (v) Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

104 Cover page interactive file (formatted in Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101).
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Signatures

 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

 

Date: July 30, 2021 World Fuel Services Corporation

/s/ Michael J. Kasbar
Michael J. Kasbar
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

/s/ Ira M. Birns
Ira M. Birns
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

33



Exhibit 10.1

RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT GRANT AGREEMENT

1.    Grant of Award. World Fuel Services Corporation, a Florida corporation (the “Company”) has awarded to [ ]
(the “Participant”), effective as of [ ] (the “Grant Date”), [ ] restricted stock units (the “RSUs”) corresponding to the
same number of shares (the “Shares”) of the Company’s common stock, par value US$0.01 per share (the “Common
Stock”). The RSUs have been granted under the Company’s 2020 Omnibus Plan (the “Plan”), which is incorporated
herein for all purposes, and the grant of RSUs shall be subject to the terms, provisions and restrictions set forth in this
Agreement and the Plan. As a condition to entering into this Agreement, and as a condition to the issuance of any
Shares (or any other securities of the Company), the Participant agrees to be bound by all of the terms and conditions
set forth in this Agreement and in the Plan.

2.    Definitions. Capitalized terms and phrases used in this Agreement shall have the meaning set forth below.
Capitalized terms used herein and not defined in this Agreement, shall have the meaning set forth in the Plan.

(a)    “Cause” means:

(i)    the failure by the Participant to perform, in a reasonable manner, his or her duties as assigned
by the Company or any Subsidiary;

(ii)    any violation or breach by the Participant of his or her employment agreement, consulting or
other similar agreement with the Company or any Subsidiary (or successor company), if any;

(iii)    any actual or threatened violation or breach by the Participant of any non-competition, non-
solicitation, non-disclosure and/or other similar agreement with the Company or any Subsidiary;

(iv)    any violation or breach by the Participant of the Company’s Code of Conduct or any other
Company policy;

(v)    any act by the Participant of dishonesty or fraud that injures the reputation or business of, or
causes harm to, the Company or any Subsidiary (or successor company);

(vi)    the Participant’s impeding of, interfering with, or failing to reasonably cooperate with an
investigation authorized by the Company or any Subsidiary or Affiliate; or

(vii)    the conviction of, or entry of a plea of guilty or nolo contendere to, a felony or a crime
involving moral turpitude.

The good faith determination by the Committee of whether the Participant’s employment or service was terminated for
“Cause” shall be final and binding for all purposes hereunder. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the definition of “Cause”
shall, following a Change of Control, be modified so that (x) clause (i) shall no longer be applicable, and (y) clauses (ii)
through (vi) above will be deemed to have the term “materiality” inserted as a qualifier to each instance of violation,
breach or other misconduct by the Participant.
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(b)    “Committee” means the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company.

(c)    “Disability” means the inability of the Participant, due to illness, accident or any other physical or
mental incapacity, to perform, with or without reasonable accommodation, the essential functions of his or her
employment duties for the Company and its Subsidiaries for an aggregate of one hundred eighty (180) days within any
period of twelve (12) consecutive months, as determined by a physician satisfactory to the Company, which
determination will be final and binding; provided that, in the case of any payments or benefits that are subject to Section
409A, such circumstances shall only constitute “Disability” if to the extent they constitute Disability within the meaning of
Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-3(i)(4).

(e)    “Good Reason” means the occurrence of any of the following within two (2) years after the
occurrence of a Change of Control:

(i) the assignment to the Participant of regular duties inconsistent in any material respect with the
Participant’s then-current position (including status, title and reporting requirements), authority, duties or
responsibilities, or any other action by the Company that results in a material diminution in such position,
authority, duties or responsibilities, excluding for this purpose an action not taken in bad faith and which is
remedied by the Company promptly after written notice thereof given by the Participant;

(ii) any reduction in, or failure to pay, the Participant’s base salary, other than a reduction or failure
that is remedied by the Company within 15 days after notice thereof given by the Participant;

(iii) any failure by the Company to provide the Participant with Bonus and equity opportunities, or
employee benefits and perquisites in the aggregate, that are not less than those provided to the Participant in
the calendar year immediately preceding the Change in Control, other than a failure not occurring in bad faith
and that is remedied by the Company within 15 days after receipt of notice thereof given by the Participant; or

(iv) the Company’s requiring the Participant to be based at any office or location outside of Miami-
Dade or Broward County, Florida, except for travel reasonably required in the performance of the Participant's
responsibilities, consistent with the Participant’s position.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, none of the circumstances described above shall constitute Good
Reason unless (i) the Participant provides the Company with written notice specifying in reasonable detail the
circumstances alleged to constitute Good Reason within ninety (90) days of the initial existence of any such
circumstances, (ii) the Company fails to remedy the circumstances within the thirty (30) days following its receipt
of such notice and (iii) the Participant actually terminates employment within the six (6) months following the
initial existence of such circumstance.

(f) “Section 409A” means Section 409A of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the
Treasury Regulations thereunder.

(g)    “Termination Date” means the date on which the Participant is no longer an employee of the
Company or any Subsidiary.
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3.    Vesting and Forfeiture of Shares.

(a)    Subject to the provisions of this Section 3, if the Participant is continuously employed by the
Company or any Subsidiary from the Grant Date through and until any of the dates (the “Vesting Date”) set forth in the
vesting schedule attached hereto as Exhibit A (the “Vesting Schedule”), then the RSUs shall become vested as set
forth in the Vesting Schedule on the applicable Vesting Date. Except as otherwise provided in this Section 3, there shall
be no proportionate or partial vesting of the RSUs prior to the applicable Vesting Date.

(b)    The vesting of the RSUs (or, if applicable, Acquirer RSUs (as defined below)) shall be accelerated if
and to the extent provided in this Section 3(b):

(i)    The RSUs shall immediately vest upon the occurrence of a Change of Control of the Company
while the Participant is employed by the Company or any Subsidiary. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if in the event of a
Change of Control the successor company assumes or substitutes the RSUs as of the date of the Change of Control,
then the vesting of the RSUs that are assumed or substituted shall not be so accelerated as a result of such Change of
Control. For this purpose, the RSUs shall be considered assumed or substituted only if (A) the RSUs that are assumed
or substituted vest at the times that such RSUs would vest pursuant to this Agreement, and (B) following the Change of
Control, the RSUs confer the right to receive, for each unvested RSU held immediately prior to the Change of Control,
the consideration (whether stock, cash or other securities or property) received by holders of Shares in the transaction
constituting a Change of Control for each Share held on the effective date of such transaction (and if holders were
offered a choice of consideration, the type of consideration chosen by the holders of a majority of the outstanding
Shares); provided, however, that if such consideration received in the transaction constituting a Change of Control is not
solely common stock of the successor company or its parent or subsidiary, the Company may provide that the
consideration to be received upon the vesting of any RSU will be solely common stock of the successor company or its
parent or subsidiary substantially equal in fair market value to the per share consideration received by holders of
Shares in the transaction constituting a Change of Control. The determinations of (1) whether the RSUs shall be
assumed or substituted or shall accelerate vesting in accordance with this Section 3(b)(i) and (2) in the event of an
assumption or substitution, such substantial equality of value of consideration shall be made by the Compensation
Committee of the Company (the “Committee”) in its sole discretion and its determinations shall be conclusive and
binding. The award resulting from the assumption or substitution of the RSUs by the successor company shall be
referred to hereafter as the “Acquirer RSUs”.

(ii) In the event that the Participant’s employment with the Company and its Subsidiaries is terminated due to the
Participant’s death or Disability prior to the applicable Vesting Date and (A) prior to a Change of Control, the Participant
shall immediately vest upon the Termination Date in a pro-rated portion of the RSUs determined in accordance with
Section 3(c) hereof, and the balance of the RSUs shall be immediately forfeited upon the Termination Date, or (B) within
the two (2) year period following a Change of Control, the Participant shall immediately vest upon the Termination Date
in all outstanding Acquirer RSUs to the extent unvested as of the Termination Date.

(iii) In the event that the Participant’s employment with the Company or its Subsidiaries is terminated by the Company
or its Subsidiaries without Cause prior to the applicable Vesting Date and (A) prior to a Change of Control, the
Participant shall immediately
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vest upon the Termination Date in a pro-rated portion of the RSUs determined in accordance with Section 3(c) hereof,
and the balance of the RSUs shall be immediately forfeited upon the Termination Date, or (B) within the two (2) year
period following a Change of Control, the Participant shall immediately vest upon the Termination Date in all outstanding
Acquirer RSUs to the extent unvested as of the Termination Date.

(iv)     In the event that the Participant’s employment with the Company or its Subsidiaries is
terminated by the Participant for Good Reason prior to the applicable Vesting Date and on or within the two (2) year
period following a Change of Control, the Participant shall immediately vest upon the Termination Date in all outstanding
Acquirer RSUs to the extent unvested as of the Termination Date.

(c)    For purposes of Section 3(b)(ii) and (iii), the pro-rated portion shall be calculated by multiplying the number of
RSUs set forth in Section 1 hereof by a fraction, the numerator of which shall be the number of days which have
elapsed between the Grant Date and the Termination Date, and the denominator of which shall be the total number of
days between the Grant Date and the final vesting Date set forth in the Vesting Schedule; provided, however, that if the
Termination Date occurs after any Vesting Date set forth in the Vesting Schedule, then the pro-rated portion shall be
reduced by the number of RSUs that vested prior to the Termination Date in accordance with the Vesting Schedule.

(d)    In the event that the Participant’s employment with the Company and its Subsidiaries is terminated prior to the
applicable Vesting Date for any other reason not specified in Section 3(b)(ii), (iii) or (iv), then the Participant shall
immediately forfeit all of the unvested RSUs (or, if applicable, Acquirer RSUs).

(e)    Termination of employment with the Company (or, if applicable, the successor company) to accept immediate re-
employment with a Subsidiary, or vice-versa, or termination of employment with a Subsidiary to accept immediate re-
employment with a different Subsidiary, shall not be deemed termination of employment for purposes of this Section 3.
Nothing in this Section 3 or this Agreement shall be deemed to limit or modify any non-competition,
confidentiality or non-solicitation restrictions that the Participant is already subject to, which restrictions shall
continue to be separately enforceable in accordance with their terms.    

4. Adjustment. The number of RSUs (or, if applicable, Acquirer RSUs) are subject to adjustment by the
Committee in the event of any increase or decrease in the number of issued Shares resulting from a subdivision or
consolidation of the Common Stock or the payment of a stock dividend on Common Stock, or any other increase or
decrease in the number of Shares effected without receipt or payment of consideration by the Company.

5.    Settlement of Awards.

(a)    Delivery of Shares. The Company shall deliver the Shares corresponding to the vested RSUs (or, if
applicable, Acquirer RSUs) to the Participant within 30 days following the applicable Vesting Date; provided, however,
that (i) in the event of the Participant’s termination of employment (A) due to death or Disability or (B) on or within the
two (2) year period following a Change of Control, by the Company without Cause or by the Participant for Good
Reason, the Company shall deliver the Shares corresponding to the vested RSUs (or, if applicable, Acquirer RSUs) to
the Participant within 30 days following such Termination Date, (ii) in the event of a



Exhibit 10.1

Change of Control pursuant to which the RSUs accelerate vesting in accordance with the first sentence of Section 3(b)
(i) of this Agreement, the Company shall deliver the Shares or shall have been deemed to deliver the Shares
corresponding to the vested RSUs to the Participant upon such Change of Control. In the event of a Change of Control
pursuant to which the RSUs are assumed or substituted in accordance with Section 3(b)(i) of this Agreement, all
references in this Section 5(a) to (x) the Company shall be to the successor company and (y) Shares shall be to the
consideration corresponding to Acquirer RSUs.

(b)    Death of Participant. By written notice to the Company’s Secretary, the Participant may designate a
beneficiary or beneficiaries to whom any vested RSUs (or, if applicable, Acquirer RSUs) and the Participant’s Cash
Account (as defined below) shall be transferred upon the death of the Participant. In the absence of such designation,
or if no designated beneficiary survives the Participant, such vested RSUs (or, if applicable, Acquirer RSUs) and the
Participant’s Cash Account shall be transferred to the legal representative of the Participant’s estate. No such transfer
of the RSUs (or, if applicable, Acquirer RSUs), or the right to convert the Shares corresponding to such RSUs (or, if
applicable, shares corresponding to Acquirer RSUs) or the conversion of any portion thereof into Common Stock (or, if
applicable, Acquirer shares), shall be effective to bind the Company unless the Company shall have been furnished
with (i) written notice thereof, (ii) a copy of the will and/or such evidence as the Company deems necessary to establish
the validity of such transfer or right to convert, and (iii) an executed agreement by the transferee, administrator, or
executor (as applicable) to (A) comply with all the terms of this Agreement that are or would have been applicable to the
Participant and (B) be bound by the acknowledgements made by the Participant in connection with this grant.

(c)    Settlement Conditioned Upon Satisfaction of Tax Obligations. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the
Company’s obligation to deliver any consideration pursuant to this Section 5 shall be subject to, and conditioned upon,
satisfaction of the Participant’s obligations relating to the applicable federal, state, local and foreign withholding or other
taxes pursuant to Section 9 hereof.

6.    Rights with Respect to Shares Represented by RSUs.

(a)    No Rights as Shareholder until Delivery. Except as otherwise provided in this Section 6, the
Participant shall not have any rights, benefits or entitlements with respect to any Shares subject to this Agreement
unless and until the Shares have been delivered to the Participant. On or after delivery of the Shares, the Participant
shall have, with respect to the Shares delivered, all of the rights of a shareholder of the Company, including the right to
vote the Shares and the right to receive all dividends, if any, as may be declared on the Shares from time to time.

(b)    Dividend Equivalents.

(i)    Cash Dividends. As of each date on which the Company pays a cash dividend with respect to
its Shares, the Company shall credit to a bookkeeping account (the “Cash Account”) for the Participant an amount
equal to the cash dividend that would have been payable with respect to the Shares corresponding to the RSUs (or, if
applicable, shares corresponding to Acquirer RSUs), excluding any RSUs (or, if applicable, Acquirer RSUs) which have
been forfeited, as if those Shares had been issued and outstanding as of the dividend payment date. Upon the vesting
of any RSUs (or, if applicable, Acquirer RSUs) hereunder, the
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Participant shall vest in and have the right to receive that portion of the Cash Account which relates to any such vested
RSUs (or, if applicable, Acquirer RSUs). The value of the Participant’s Cash Account shall vest and be distributable to
the Participant at the same time as the RSUs (or, if applicable, Acquirer RSUs) vest and the Shares corresponding to
the vested RSUs (or, if applicable, consideration corresponding to Acquirer RSUs) are distributed to the Participant.

(ii)    Stock Dividends. As of each date on which the Company pays a stock dividend with respect to
its Shares, the Shares corresponding to the RSUs shall be increased by the stock dividend that would have been
payable with respect to the Shares that correspond to the RSUs, and shall be subject to the same vesting requirements
as the RSUs to which they relate and, to the extent vested, shall be distributed at the same time as the Shares
corresponding to vested RSUs are distributed.

7.    Transfers. The Participant may not, directly or indirectly, sell, pledge or otherwise transfer any RSUs or
Acquirer RSUs or any rights with respect to the Cash Account.

8.    Registration Statement. The Participant acknowledges and agrees that the Company has filed a Registration
Statement on Form S-8 (the “Registration Statement”) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “1933 Act”),
to register the Shares under the 1933 Act. The Participant acknowledges receipt of the Prospectus prepared by the
Company in connection with the Registration Statement. Prior to conversion of the RSUs into Shares, the Participant
shall execute and deliver to the Company such representations in writing as may be requested by the Company in order
for it to comply with the applicable requirements of federal and state or non-U.S. securities law.

9.    Taxes; Potential Forfeiture.

(a)    Payment of Taxes. On or prior to the date on which any Shares corresponding to any vested RSUs
(or, if applicable, consideration corresponding to Acquirer RSUs) are delivered or the Participant’s vested Cash Account
is paid, the Participant shall remit to the Company an amount sufficient to satisfy any applicable federal, state, local and
foreign withholding or other taxes. No certificate for any Shares corresponding to any RSUs (or, if applicable,
consideration corresponding to Acquirer RSUs) that have vested, uncertificated shares or any cash attributable to the
Participant’s Cash Account, shall be delivered or paid to the Participant until the foregoing obligation has been satisfied.

(b)    Alternative Payment Methods and Company Rights. The Company or Participant may, at its, his or
her option, permit the Participant to satisfy his or her obligations under this Section 9, by tendering to the Company a
portion of the Shares (or, if applicable, consideration corresponding to Acquirer RSUs) that otherwise would be
delivered to the Participant pursuant to the RSU (or, if applicable, Acquirer RSUs) ; provided, however, that, in the event
the Participant elects to satisfy his or her obligations by surrendering a portion of such Shares, such election shall be
binding on the Company. In the event that the Participant fails to satisfy his or her obligations under this Section 9, the
Participant agrees that the Company shall have the right to satisfy such obligations on the Participant’s behalf by taking
any one or more of the following actions (such actions to be in addition to any other remedies available to the
Company): (1) withholding payment of any fees or any other amounts payable to the Participant, (2) selling all or a
portion of the Shares underlying the RSUs (or, if applicable, consideration underlying Acquirer RSUs) in the open
market or (3) withholding and canceling all or a portion of the Shares corresponding to the vested RSUs (or, if
applicable, consideration corresponding to
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Acquirer RSUs). Any acquisition of Shares corresponding to RSUs (or, if applicable, consideration corresponding to
Acquirer RSUs) by the Company as contemplated hereby is expressly approved by the Committee as part of the
approval of this Agreement. .

(c)    Forfeiture for Failure to Pay Taxes. If and to the extent that the Participant fails to satisfy his or her
obligations under this Section 9 and the Company does not exercise its right to satisfy those obligations under Section
9(b) hereof with respect to any RSUs (or, if applicable, Acquirer RSUs) or any portion of the vested Cash Account within
30 days after the date on which the Shares corresponding to the vested RSUs (or, if applicable, consideration
corresponding to Acquirer RSUs) or vested Cash Account otherwise would be delivered pursuant to Sections 5 and 6(b)
hereof, as applicable, the Participant immediately forfeits any rights with respect to the portion of the RSUs (or, if
applicable, Acquirer RSUs) or vested Cash Account to which such failure relates.

10.    Stock Retention Policy. The Participant understands that the Committee has adopted a policy that requires
the Participant to retain ownership of one-half (50%) of the Shares underlying the RSUs acquired by the Participant
hereunder (net of the number of Shares that the Company determines to withhold or that the Participant is permitted to
tender, in each case, pursuant to Section 9 hereof to satisfy applicable tax withholding requirements), for a period of
three (3) years after vesting of such RSUs (or until the Participant’s employment with, and services for, the Company
and its Subsidiaries terminates, if earlier). The Participant agrees to comply with such policy and any modifications
thereof that may be adopted by the Committee from time to time. Notwithstanding the foregoing, such policy shall not
apply following a Change of Control to any Shares acquired by the Participant hereunder.

11. Stock Ownership Policy. The Participant understands that the Committee has adopted a policy that requires
the Participant to own a multiple of the Participant’s base salary, determined by leadership level, in Shares. The
Participant agrees to comply with such policy and any modifications thereof that may be adopted by the Committee
from time to time. Notwithstanding the foregoing, such policy shall not apply following a Change of Control.

12.    No Effect on Employment. Except as otherwise provided in any employment agreement with the
Participant, if any, the Participant’s employment with the Company and any Subsidiary is on an at- or will basis only.
Accordingly, subject to the terms of any such employment agreement, nothing in this Agreement or the Plan shall confer
upon the Participant any right to continue to be employed by the Company or any Subsidiary or shall interfere with or
restrict in any way the rights of the Company or any Subsidiary, which are hereby expressly reserved, to terminate the
employment of the Participant at any time for any lawful reason whatsoever or for no reason, with or without Cause and
with or without notice. Such reservation of rights can be modified only in an express written contract executed by a duly
authorized officer of the Company.

13.    Other Benefits. Except as provided below, nothing contained in this Agreement shall affect the Participant’s
right to participate in and receive benefits under and in accordance with the then current provisions of any pension,
insurance or other employee welfare plan or program of the Company or any Subsidiary.

14.    Binding Agreement. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the heirs, legatees,
legal representatives, successors and assigns of the parties hereto.
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15.    Plan Governs. This Agreement is subject to all of the terms and provisions of the Plan. In the event of a
conflict between one or more provisions of this Agreement and one or more provisions of the Plan, the provisions of the
Plan shall govern.

16.    Governing Law/Jurisdiction. The validity and effect of this Agreement shall be governed by and construed
and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of Florida, without regard to any conflict-of-law rule or principle
that would give effect to the laws of another jurisdiction. Any dispute, controversy, or question of interpretation arising
under, out of, in connection with, or in relation to this Agreement or any amendments hereof, or any breach or default
hereunder, shall be submitted to, and determined and settled by, litigation in the state or federal courts in Miami-Dade
County, Florida. Each of the parties hereby irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the state and federal
courts sitting in Miami-Dade County, Florida. Each party hereby irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent it may
effectively do so, the defense of an inconvenient forum to the maintenance of any litigation in Miami-Dade County,
Florida.

17.    Authority. The Committee (and, upon delegation by the Committee, the Company) shall have all discretion,
power, and authority to interpret the Plan and this Agreement and to adopt such rules for the administration,
interpretation and application of the Plan as are consistent therewith. All actions taken and all interpretations and
determinations made by the Committee (or, if applicable, the Company) in good faith shall be final and binding upon the
Participant, the Company and all other interested persons, and shall be given the maximum deference permitted by law.
No member of the Committee (or, if applicable, officer of the Company) shall be personally liable for any action,
determination or interpretation made in good faith with respect to the Plan or this Agreement.

18.    Captions. The captions provided herein are for convenience only and are not to serve as a basis for the
interpretation or construction of this Agreement.

19.    Agreement Severable. In the event that any provision in this Agreement shall be held invalid or
unenforceable, such provision shall be severable from, and such invalidity or unenforceability shall not be construed to
have any effect on, the remaining provisions of this Agreement.

20.    Miscellaneous. This Agreement constitutes the entire understanding of the parties on the subjects covered.
The Participant expressly warrants that he or she is not executing this Agreement in reliance on any promises,
representations, or inducements other than those contained herein. This Agreement and the Plan can be amended or
terminated by the Company to the extent permitted under the Plan. Amendments hereto shall be effective only if set
forth in a written statement or contract, executed by a duly authorized member of the Committee (or, if applicable,
officer of the Company). The Participant shall at any time and from time to time after the date of this Agreement, do,
execute, acknowledge, and deliver, or will cause to be done, executed, acknowledged and delivered, all such further
acts, deeds, assignments, transfers, conveyances, powers of attorney, receipts, acknowledgments, acceptances and
assurances as may reasonably be required to give effect to the terms hereof, or otherwise to satisfy and perform
Participant’s obligations hereunder. This Agreement may be executed and delivered by facsimile or other electronic
signature and in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall
constitute one and the same instrument.

21.    Compliance with Section 409A.



Exhibit 10.1

(a)    If and to the extent that the Company believes that the RSUs (including, if applicable, Acquirer
RSUs) or rights to the Cash Account may constitute a “nonqualified deferred compensation plan” under Section 409A,
the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement (and/or the provisions of the Plan applicable thereto) shall be
interpreted in a manner consistent with the applicable requirements of Section 409A, and the Company, in its sole
discretion and without the consent of the Participant, may amend this Agreement (and the provisions of the Plan
applicable thereto) if and to the extent that the Company determines necessary or appropriate to comply with applicable
requirements of Section 409A.

(b)    If and to the extent required to comply with Section 409A:

            (i)    Payments or delivery of Shares (or, if applicable, consideration in respect of Acquirer RSUs) or cash in
respect of the Participant’s Cash Account under this Agreement may not be made earlier than (u) the Participant’s
“separation from service”, (v) the date the Participant becomes “disabled”, (w) the Participant’s death, (x) a “specified
time (or pursuant to a fixed schedule)” specified in this Agreement at the date of the deferral of such compensation or
(y) a “change in the ownership or effective control” of the corporation, or in the “ownership of a substantial portion of the
assets” of the corporation;

            (ii)    The time or schedule for any payment of the deferred compensation may not be accelerated, except to the
extent provided in applicable Treasury Regulations or other applicable guidance issued by the Internal Revenue
Service; and

(iii)    If the Participant is a “specified employee”, a distribution on account of a “separation from
service” may not be made before the date which is six months after the date of the Participant’s “separation from
service” (or, if earlier, the date of the Participant’s death).

For purposes of the foregoing, the terms in quotations shall have the same meanings as those terms have for purposes
of Section 409A, and the limitations set forth herein shall be applied in such manner (and only to the extent) as shall be
necessary to comply with any requirements of Section 409A that are applicable to this Agreement.

        (c)    Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company does not make any representation to the Participant that any
consideration awarded pursuant to this Agreement is exempt from, or satisfies, the requirements of Section 409A, and
the Company shall have no liability or other obligation to indemnify or hold harmless the Participant or any beneficiary
for any tax, additional tax, interest or penalties that the Participant or any beneficiary may incur in the event that any
provision of this Agreement, or any amendment or modification thereof, or any other action taken with respect thereto,
that either is consented to by the Participant or that the Company reasonably believes should not result in a violation of
Section 409A, is deemed to violate any of the requirements of Section 409A.

22.    Unfunded Agreement. The rights of the Participant under this Agreement with respect to the Company’s
obligation to distribute Shares corresponding to vested RSUs (or, if applicable, consideration corresponding to Acquirer
RSUs) and the value of the Participant’s vested Cash Account, if any, shall be unfunded and shall not be greater than
the rights of an unsecured general creditor of the Company.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the Grant Date.

WORLD FUEL SERVICES CORPORATION

By: ____________________________
Name:__________________________
Title:____________________________

PARTICIPANT

Signature:                         

Name:                         
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EXHIBIT “A”

VESTING SCHEDULE

33% of the RSUs shall vest on the first (1st) anniversary of the Grant Date.
33% of the RSUs shall vest on the second (2nd) anniversary of the Grant Date.
34% of the RSUs shall vest on the third (3rd) anniversary of the Grant Date.
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Certification of the Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to

Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d — 14(a)
 

I, Michael J. Kasbar, certify that:
 

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of World Fuel Services Corporation for the period ended June 30, 2021;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a -15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting;

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

 
 

Date: July 30, 2021  
  
 /s/ Michael J. Kasbar
 Michael J. Kasbar
 Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
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Certification of the Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to

Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d — 14(a)
 

I, Ira M. Birns, certify that:
 

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of World Fuel Services Corporation for the period ended June 30, 2021;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a -15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting;

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: July 30, 2021  
  
 /s/ Ira M. Birns
 Ira M. Birns
 Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
under Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

(18 U.S.C. § 1350)
 

    We, Michael J. Kasbar, the Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer of World Fuel Services Corporation (the “Company”), and Ira M. Birns, the
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify for the purposes of Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States
Code that, to the best of our knowledge,
 

i. the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Company for the period ended June 30, 2021 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

ii. the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
 

Date: July 30, 2021  
  
 /s/ Michael J. Kasbar
 Michael J. Kasbar
 Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
  
  
 /s/ Ira M. Birns
 Ira M. Birns
 Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

 
 

The foregoing certification is being furnished as an exhibit to the Report pursuant to Item 601(b)(32) of Regulation S-K and Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002 and, accordingly, is not being filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission as part of the Report and is not to be incorporated by
reference into any filing of the Company under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (whether made before or after the date of
the Report, irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing).


